Population dynamics of Schrödinger cats

Foster Thompson^{1*} and Alex Kamenev^{1,2†}

 1 School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55455, USA
 2 William I. Fine Theoretical Physics Institute, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55414, USA

* thom7385@umn.edu, † kamen002@umn.edu

Abstract

We demonstrate an exact equivalence between classical population dynamics and Lindbladian evolution admitting a dark state and obeying a set of certain local symmetries. We then introduce *quantum population dynamics* as models in which this local symmetry condition is relaxed. This allows for non-classical processes in which animals behave like Schrödinger's cat and enter superpositions of live and dead states, thus resulting in coherent superpositions of different population numbers. We develop a field theory treatment of quantum population models as a synthesis of Keldysh and third quantization techniques and draw comparisons to the stochastic Doi-Peliti field theory description of classical population models. We apply this formalism to study a prototypical "Schrödigner cat" population model on a *d*-dimensional lattice, which exhibits a phase transition between a dark extinct phase and an active phase that supports a stable quantum population. Using a perturbative renormalization group approach, we find a critical scaling of the Schrödinger cat population distinct from that observed in both classical population dynamics and usual quantum phase transitions.

Copyright F. Thompson and A. Kamenev.	Received	2024-09-27	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted	2024-12-19	
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published	2025-02-06	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.214	68/SciPostPhys.18	.2.046

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Reaction models and Lindbladian dynamics	4
	2.1 Classical reaction models and absorbing states	5
	2.2 Lindbladians and superoperators	7
	2.3 Weak symmetry and dark states	7
	2.4 Quantum population dynamics	10
3	Field theory of absorbing states	12
	3.1 Classical directed percolation	12
	3.2 Keldysh formalism for theories with dark states	14
4	Universal theory of Schrödinger cat populations	17
	4.1 Extinction of Schrödinger cats in zero dimensions	19

Sci Post

	4.2 Complex Reggeon theory	20
	4.3 Critical scaling for general couplings	24
5	Discussion and conclusion	25
A	Microscopic parameters	27
B	Derivation of RG flow equations	28
С	Stability of the critical surface	30
D	Critical exponents	31
Re	References 33	

1 Introduction

Recent years are marked by the accelerated pace of building quantum computation platforms with an ever increasing number of interconnected qubits [1–11]. A further development of such platforms and their utilization for implementation of practical quantum algorithms require a better understanding of the *many-body* collective dynamics of these devices. Unlike textbook spins, or other quantum particles, the qubits are often macroscopic objects with huge number of internal degrees of freedom. The inescapable consequence of this fact is that the qubits' density matrix does *not* evolve in a pure unitary way, described by the von Neumann equation. Indeed, tracing out numerous degrees of freedom, which are not explicitly controlled by the device (aka bath), results in a *reduced* density matrix for the connected qubit assembly. In the simplest approximation, which disregards non-Markovian memory effects of the bath, the reduced density matrix evolves according to the Lindblad equation [12–14]. The latter incorporates the von Neumann Hamiltonian part as well as bath-induced dissipative terms, expressed in terms of the so-called quantum jump operators, \hat{L}_{ν} .

Despite a lot of recent developments [15–17], the many-body theory of the Lindbladian evolution is still in its infancy. In particular, we are still lacking a basic intuition and even a proper vocabulary to discuss dynamical phases and corresponding phase transitions in such models. Within this framework one particular regime of interest is many-body Lindbladians that protect certain pure states, known in this context as dark states, from all fluctuations [10]. Such states are the analogues of classical absorbing states [18], which are totally dynamically inert and, once entered, cannot be left. The existence of a dark state of a particular dissipative quantum dynamics does not guarantee that such a state is actually reached at long times for generic initial conditions. This occurs when the particular combination of jump operators and Hamiltonian drives the system away from the dark state, rendering it dynamically inaccessible. Regimes with accessible and inaccessible dark states are separated by non-equilibrium phase transitions, a feature shared with models of classical absorbing states [16].

Quantum dark states and their stability as well as absorbing state phase transitions in a quantum setting have been a subject of several recent publications. In particular, there have been theoretical studies of first order [19] and continuous [20,21] dark state phase transitions in Lindbladian spin systems, as well as a variety of numerical studies [22–24]. Various bosonic Lindbladians have been considered as analogues of classical reaction models, and have been shown to exhibit absorbing state transitions and non-classical relaxation dynamics [25–28].

Fermionic models were examined in Ref. [29] and subsequently in Refs. [30,31], where it was argued that certain classes of fermionic models generically display unstable dark states. An additional motivation for the study of such models is that they can be interpreted as dissipative quantum protocols for steering towards and stabilizing certain desirable quantum states. In this context, a dark state transition represents a limit beyond which the particular protocol under consideration breaks down and the desired target state is no longer obtainable. This is of interest as a potential mean of robustly storing quantum information [32–36], or realizing a quantum order in open systems [37–39]. We also mention related works applying the machinery of classical population dynamics and absorbing state transitions to study properties of quantum circuits [40–43].

Many of the essential features of quantum theories with dark states are also present in classical population models. Classical population dynamics is a stochastic theory, formulated in terms of the probability distributions of certain population outcomes. In such models, the state with zero animals is an absorbing state. The dynamical stability of this state is of central interest and determines whether or not the population goes extinct at long times. Dynamics of the classical probability distributions are governed by the so-called Master equation. The latter is essentially a kinetic equation, which describes rates of "in" and "out" events changing probability of a given outcome. It was realized long ago that one can conveniently represent such a Master equation as an imaginary time Schrödinger evolution with a non-Hermitian effective Hamiltonian. In the earliest incarnation, known as Doi-Peliti representation [44, 45], such a Hamiltonian is expressed through the canonical \hat{a} and \hat{a}^{\dagger} operators which decrease and increase the population size by one animal, correspondingly. This technique proved to be extremely useful to develop field theoretical techniques to describe spatially extended population dynamics models and classify their dynamical non-equilibrium phase transitions [18, 46–50].

In this work we advocate for a common language of "quantum population dynamics" which serves as a convenient tool to visualise and describe a multitude of phenomena observed in quantum dissipate dynamics with dark states. We show that there is an equivalent way of representing classical population models as dynamics of diagonal elements of a fictitious quantum density matrix. The latter evolves according to a certain Lindblad equation. As explained below, if all quantum jump operators, \hat{L}_{ν} , respect a certain local symmetry, dynamics of the diagonal elements decouples from the rest of the density matrix. Moreover, evolution of these diagonal elements is described by a Master equation for some set of the population reaction rules. There is thus a one to one correspondence between classical population dynamics rules and the Lindbladian evolution with a proper set of the symmetry-respecting quantum jump operators.

The advantage of this representation is that it may be naturally generalized to the *quantum* population dynamics. The latter is formulated in terms of dynamical rules which allow for populations of "Schrödinger cats", described by coherent superpositions of populations with different sizes (e.g., a superposition of a dead cat, $|0\rangle$, and a live cat, $|1\rangle = \hat{a}^{\dagger} |0\rangle$). To achieve such non-classical population outcomes, one needs to allow for the quantum jump operators which violate the local symmetry, mentioned above. Such a vantage point views any (bosonic) many-body Lindbladian (supporting a dark state) as an equivalent set of quantum population reaction rules.

This point of view implies that the "quantumness," being a symmetry breaking phenomenon, may be a *relevant* perturbation of the classical dynamics. This opens the possibility that hybrid quantum-classical models may exhibit universality classes which are distinct from that of the pure classical population models. On the other side, pure quantum models (such as, e.g., quantum magnets, or Bose condensates) are often unstable against dissipative Lindbladian terms. In many such cases, the addition of incoherent processes drives quantum models towards known classical equilibrium or non-equilibrium dynamic universality classes [51,52] associated with stochastic processes (several notable examples are provided by [53–55], for a more exhaustive review see [16]). This is however not always the case, and in some cases the combination of coherent and dissipative processes in Lindbladian dynamics may exhibit phase transitions with universal behavior distinct from both pure classical and pure quantum models, for example [53,56–58]. As we argue below, a generic bosonic Lindbladian dynamics with a dark state (i.e. Schrödinger cats population dynamics) provides an example of novel critical behavior, distinct from that observed in both classical and closed quantum systems.

To this end, we develop a field-theoretic approach, similar in form to the Doi-Peliti formalism for the classical stochastic systems, for the treatment of quantum dissipative dynamics with dark states. Our approach synthesizes quantum many-body Keldysh techniques [52] with the third quantization description of the Lindbladian evolution [59–64]. It allows us to identify a distinct "Schrödinger cat" universality class, characteristic for models without any extra symmetries or dynamical constraints, beyond the existence of the extinct dark state. We derive a field theory for such models in *d* spatial dimensions and develop a renormalization group (RG) treatment for the phase transition between the dead and live phases. In yet other words, this is the phase transition between a trivial dark state (a classical absorbing state) and a nontrivial, dynamically stable, essentially quantum state of the many-body system. The result of this analysis is a set of critical indexes, obtained in the $\epsilon = 4 - d$ expansion, which is distinct from both pure classical (i.e. directed percolation) and quantum models.

The structure of the manuscript is as follows. In Section 2 we establish the correspondence between classical population dynamics and quantum Lindbladians with *weak* local U(1) symmetries. We then introduce quantum population dynamics as a generalization of these classical models and discuss various examples of quantum population processes. Section 3 discusses the structure of the field theories for models with absorbing states. We begin with a review of the Doi-Peliti field theory description of the classical directed percolation universality class and then develop a complimentary treatment of a quantum bosonic theory with dark states, emphasizing connections between the two formalisms. This machinery is subsequently applied in 4 to derive and study a universal effective field theory for the Scrhödinger cat population dynamics of a single species. We identify a dark state phase transition in this theory and derive its critical exponents, which turn out to be distinct from those of the classical population dynamics.

2 Reaction models and Lindbladian dynamics

Classical population dynamics describes the behaviour of animal species living in their environment, in which they can reproduce, disperse, compete, die, etc. Formally, reaction models are a class of stochastic processes in which different agents incoherently evolve according to a set of microscopic reaction rules. A population dynamics is a specific type of such reaction models that possesses an *absorbing* state with zero population for all species.

In this section we establish a correspondence between certain types of Lindbladians and classical reaction models. The main idea may be summarized as follows: consider a Lindbladian with a *weak* U(1) symmetry (or a multiple copies of such a symmetry - e.g., one for each species). If all jump operators posses a definite charge under at least one copy of U(1), then the dynamics of states diagonal in the charge basis is equivalent to a classical reaction model. If, in addition, the zero charge vacuum is a dark state of such a Lindbladian, the latter is equivalent to a classical population dynamics.

Note that many reaction models put limits on the total number of each agent. Such constrained reaction models are often relevant in the quantum context in which the local degrees of freedom are qubits, which in the present context is equivalent to an agent which can have a local population of only zero or one. Here we work with reaction models in which the populations of each agent is unconstrained both for conceptual clarity and for the technical advantage of being describable using bosonic field theory methods. Nevertheless, the main lessons of this section hold true also for constrained reaction models and population dynamics. All arguments presented can be readily adapted to include constrains by replacing the canonical bosonic operators with appropriate finite dimensional qudit analogues.

2.1 Classical reaction models and absorbing states

Here we briefly review basic formal details of classical reaction models. Consider a set of N different types of agents or species denoted as A_j with j = 1, ..., N. Groups of agents may interact according to reaction rules,

$$\sum_{j}^{N} m_{j} A_{j} \xrightarrow{\gamma} \sum_{j}^{N} m_{j}^{\prime} A_{j}, \qquad (1)$$

which signifies a reaction that occurs at rate γ in which m_1 of agent A_1 , m_2 of agent A_2 , etc. react to produce m'_1 of agent A_1 , m'_2 of agent A_2 , etc. The null symbol \emptyset will be used for rules in which there are either no reactants or products.

The space of states of classical reaction models is formally equivalent to a bosonic Fock space, with a single bosonic mode for each agent. A state vector $|\mathbf{n}\rangle = |n_1, n_2, ...\rangle$ denotes the state with n_j of agent A_j . Linear combinations of different number states represent *statistical* superpositions of different number states. The state of a system is a classical probability distribution \mathcal{P} , which is a represented by a general ket $|\mathcal{P}\rangle = \sum_{n} \mathcal{P}_{n} |\mathbf{n}\rangle$ which satisfies $\sum_{n} \mathcal{P}_{n} = 1$. In a slight abuse of notation, this normalization condition is conveniently represented as an overlap with the "state" with $\mathcal{P}_{n} = 1$, so that $\langle 1|\mathcal{P}\rangle = 1$.

Following the standard operator formalism, introduced originally in [65], one may define a number operator \hat{n}_i for each agent, which has the number states as eigenvectors:

$$\hat{n}_{j} \left| \mathbf{n} \right\rangle = n_{j} \left| \mathbf{n} \right\rangle \,. \tag{2}$$

Each \hat{n}_j has a corresponding canonically conjugated operator \hat{p}_j , the exponential of which defines the raising (or lowering) operator,

$$e^{\pm \hat{p}_j} |\mathbf{n}\rangle = |\dots, n_j \pm 1, \dots\rangle . \tag{3}$$

The two satisfy the standard bosonic commutation rule $[\hat{n}_i, \hat{p}_i] = \delta_{ij}$.

Dynamics set by the reaction rules are represented by a classical Master equation:

$$\partial_t \left| \mathcal{P} \right\rangle = \hat{\mathcal{W}} \left| \mathcal{P} \right\rangle \,. \tag{4}$$

The (non-Hermitian) evolution generating operator $\hat{\mathcal{W}}$ is a sum of operators that individually encode each reaction rule $\hat{\mathcal{W}} = \sum_{\nu} \gamma_{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{\nu}$. Typically, one chooses for a general reaction rule as in Eq. (1):

$$\hat{\mathcal{W}}_{\nu} = \left(e^{-\sum_{j} (m_{\nu j} - m'_{\nu j})\hat{p}_{j}} - 1 \right) \prod_{j} \frac{\hat{n}_{j}!}{m_{\nu j}! (\hat{n}_{j} - m_{\nu j})!},$$
(5)

where the factorial of the number operator denotes the operator product $\hat{n}! = \hat{n}(\hat{n}-1)...$ The combinatoric factor ensures that the rate is proportional to the current number of groups of

each type of agent needed for the reaction (i.e. the number of groups of m_1 of agent A_1 and so on).

The finite time evolution of probability distributions is governed by a time evolution operator, $\hat{\mathcal{U}}_t = \exp(t\hat{\mathcal{W}})$. Reaction models with stable dynamics drive initial states toward some stationary state at long times. Stationary states \mathcal{P}_{st} are the eigenvalues of $\hat{\mathcal{W}}$ with zero eigenvalue, $\hat{\mathcal{W}} | \mathcal{P}_{st} \rangle = 0$. With this machinery, statistics of population models are computed as the expectation values of number operators inserted between time evolution operators,

$$\langle n_{j_N}(t_N) \dots n_{j_2}(t_2) n_{j_1}(t_1) \rangle_{\mathcal{P}} = \langle 1 | \hat{n}_{j_N} \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_N - t_{N-1}} \dots \hat{n}_{j_2} \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_2 - t_1} \hat{n}_{j_1} \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_1} | \mathcal{P} \rangle .$$
 (6)

When expectations are taken in the stationary state, the subscript \mathcal{P} will be omitted.

An absorbing state \mathcal{P}_{abs} is a stationary state which, once entered, cannot be left. Such a state must be inert under each reaction process in the model independently, $\hat{\mathcal{W}}_{\nu} | \mathcal{P}_{abs} \rangle = 0$ for all ν . Expectations in absorbing states are independent of all time arguments,

$$\langle n_{j_N}(t_N) \dots n_{j_2}(t_2) n_{j_1}(t_1) \rangle = \langle n_{j_N} \dots n_{j_2} n_{j_1} \rangle = \bar{n}_{j_N} \dots \bar{n}_{j_2} \bar{n}_{j_1},$$
(7)

where the final equality holds for absorbing "pure" states, with $|\mathcal{P}_{abs}\rangle = |\bar{\mathbf{n}}\rangle$. Such states are totally *fluctuationless*: there is no uncertainty and all expectations reduce to products of \bar{n}_j . A reaction model can be interpreted as a population dynamics when the state of zero population of all species $|0\rangle$ is an absorbing state: animals may be born and die, but they can never emerge from a state with no initial population. Such a state represents total extinction, so the population has no fluctuations and all statistical moments must be zero. On the level of the reaction rules Eq. (1), all processes must have $m_i > 0$ for at least one species j.

We consider now a set of prototypical reaction rules to exemplify the ideas discussed above. For simplicity, consider a model with only a single specie *A*. Some simple reaction rules and their corresponding evolution operators are:

$$A \xrightarrow{\gamma_{\rm d}} \emptyset \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \gamma_{\rm d} \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{\rm d} = \gamma_{\rm d} (e^{-\hat{p}} - 1) \hat{n},$$
 (8a)

$$A \xrightarrow{\gamma_{\rm r}} 2A \qquad \longleftrightarrow \qquad \gamma_{\rm r} \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{\rm r} = \gamma_{\rm r} (e^{\hat{p}} - 1) \hat{n},$$
 (8b)

$$\emptyset \xrightarrow{\gamma_s} A \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \hat{\gamma}_s \hat{\mathcal{W}}_s = \gamma_s (e^{\hat{p}} - 1).$$
(8c)

Both of the first two reaction rules disallow transitions out of the extinct state and are thus valid processes in a population dynamics, respectively representing death and (asexual) reproduction of animals. This is formally ensured by the proportionality to \hat{n} , as $\hat{n} |0\rangle = 0$. The third rule represents a "spontaneous generation" of animals out of the extinct state, and so is *not* allowed in population dynamics models.

The two terms in the brackets $(e^{\pm \hat{p}} - 1)$ in Eqs. (8) represent "in" and "out" processes. For example, for the death process of Eq. (8a) the "in" process is initiated in a state with n + 1 animals, which after death of one of them leads to the state $|n\rangle$; the "out" process leads from the state $|n\rangle$ to a state with n - 1 animals. This is achieved by acting $(e^{-\hat{p}} - 1)\hat{n} |\mathcal{P}\rangle = \sum_{n} \mathcal{P}_{n}(e^{-\hat{p}} - 1)\hat{n} |n\rangle = \sum_{n} \mathcal{P}_{n}n(|n-1\rangle - |n\rangle) = \sum_{n} ((n+1)\mathcal{P}_{n+1} - n\mathcal{P}_{n})|n\rangle$. As a result, equation (4) spells out the following evolution law: $\partial_{t}\mathcal{P}_{n} = \gamma_{d}((n+1)\mathcal{P}_{n+1} - n\mathcal{P}_{n})$, which indeed represents $A \xrightarrow{\gamma_{d}} \emptyset$ reaction.

Reaction models are naturally extended to finite dimensional settings by assigning populations of each type of agents to sites on a lattice, $A_{j\mathbf{r}}$ where \mathbf{r} is a lattice vector. With this, reaction rules can also represent the movement of agents to different points in space. The simplest example to this is the combination of the two rules $A_{\mathbf{r}} \rightarrow A_{\mathbf{r} \pm \mathbf{a}_i}$ for all lattice unit vectors \mathbf{a}_i . This implements a random walk on the lattice which causes diffusion of the population.

2.2 Lindbladians and superoperators

We review the basics of the superoperator formalism, as it is most naturally related to the operator treatment of classical reaction models presented above. The Lindblad equation describes the Markovian evolution of the reduced density matrix *operator*, $\hat{\rho}$, of an open quantum system. The Lindbladian superoperator acts on the space of quantum operators. Introducing doubled bra-ket notation, we take $\hat{O} = |O\rangle$ to denote a vector in the space of operators acting on the quantum Hilbert space of wave functions. The Lindblad equation may then be expressed as:

$$\partial_t \left| \rho \right\rangle = \hat{\mathcal{L}} \left| \rho \right\rangle, \tag{9a}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}} = -i\,\hat{\mathcal{H}} + \sum_{\nu} \gamma_{\nu}\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{L}_{\nu}].$$
(9b)

The superoperators $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ and $\hat{\mathcal{D}}$ respectively represent Hamiltonian and dissipative contributions to the dynamics. Letting $\hat{O}_+ |\rho\rangle\rangle = \hat{O}\hat{\rho}$ and $\hat{O}_- |\rho\rangle\rangle = \hat{\rho}\hat{O}$ be superoperators that denote the left and right action of \hat{O} , these are:

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}} = \hat{H}_{+} - \hat{H}_{-},$$
 (10a)

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{L}] = \hat{L}_{+}\hat{L}_{-}^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\hat{L}_{+}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{+} + \hat{L}_{-}\hat{L}_{-}^{\dagger} \right).$$
(10b)

Here, \hat{H} the system Hamiltonian and \hat{L}_{ν} the jump operators, which govern incoherent processes caused by interaction with the environment; $\gamma_{\nu} > 0$ is a set of real positive coupling constants between the quantum system and its environment(s). Letting \hat{a}_j denote a set of *N* bosonic modes, with $[\hat{a}_i, \hat{a}_i^{\dagger}] = \delta_{ij}$, we consider \hat{H} and \hat{L}_{ν} to be polynomials in \hat{a}_j and \hat{a}_j^{\dagger} .

The time evolution of the density matrices is controlled by the time evolution superoperator $\hat{\mathcal{U}}_t = \exp(t\hat{\mathcal{L}})$. At long times the density matrix is driven toward a stationary state, $\hat{\rho}_{st}$, which is the eigenvalues of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$ that have zero eigenvalue, $\hat{\mathcal{L}} | \rho_{st} \rangle = 0$. It is natural to equip the operator space with the Hilbert-Schmidt norm, $\langle \langle O | O' \rangle \rangle = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{O}^{\dagger}\hat{O}')$. With this, the doubled bra $\langle \langle 1 | \operatorname{can} \rangle$ be used to take a trace, allowing computation of expectations via the insertion of operators on either side of the density matrix. As an example, generic *N*-point functions are given by:

$$\langle\!\langle 1|\hat{a}_{j_N\sigma_N}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_N-t_{N-1}}\cdots\hat{a}_{j_2\sigma_2}^{\dagger}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_2-t_1}\hat{a}_{j_1\sigma_1}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_1}|\rho\rangle\!\rangle,\tag{11}$$

where $\sigma \in \{+, -\}$, and similarly for any string of either \hat{a} or \hat{a}^{\dagger} .

2.3 Weak symmetry and dark states

Open quantum systems have two different notions of symmetry [15,66,67]. A strong symmetry is a typical symmetry of a quantum system. In contrast, a *weak* symmetry is a symmetry of the system and environment jointly, but which holds only on average for the effective Lindbladian dynamics of the system alone. Weak symmetries do not correspond to conservation laws, but they do have consequences on dynamics.

In the present context, we consider N copies of U(1). To define this, we first introduce the bosonic number and phase operators,

$$\hat{a}_j = e^{i\hat{\theta}_j} \sqrt{\hat{n}_j}, \qquad \hat{a}_j^{\dagger} = \sqrt{\hat{n}_j} e^{-i\hat{\theta}_j}.$$
(12)

The operators \hat{n}_j and $\hat{\theta}_j$ are Hermitian and satisfy the canonical commutation relations $[\hat{n}_j, \hat{\theta}_i] = i\delta_{ij}$. These are the same as the operator representation used for the classical population model as defined in Eqs. (2) and (3), with $\hat{p}_j = i\hat{\theta}_j$. With this, we define the U(1) symmetry operator $\hat{U}_j(\vartheta) = \exp(-i\hat{n}_j\vartheta)$ and corresponding superoperator $\hat{U}_j(\vartheta) = \hat{U}_{j+}(\vartheta)\hat{U}_{j-}^{\dagger}(\vartheta)$.

A Lindbladian is weakly symmetric if

$$[\hat{\mathcal{L}}, \hat{\mathcal{U}}_i(\vartheta)] = 0. \tag{13}$$

As an example consider a single bosonic mode with the jump operators $\hat{L}_{\nu} = \hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}$. They transform respectively as $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta) |a\rangle = e^{-i\hat{n}\vartheta} \hat{a} e^{i\hat{n}\vartheta} = e^{i\vartheta} \hat{a}$ and $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta) |a^{\dagger}\rangle = e^{-i\vartheta} \hat{a}^{\dagger}$. Examining the form of the dissipative superoperator in Eq. (10) it is clear that an overall phase of \hat{L} does not affect the form of $\hat{\mathcal{D}}$, and thus one has $\hat{\mathcal{D}}[e^{-i\vartheta}\hat{a}^{\dagger}] = \hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{a}^{\dagger}]$ and $\hat{\mathcal{D}}[e^{i\vartheta}\hat{a}] = \hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{a}]$. This implies the invariance of the overall Lindbladian under the weak symmetry transformation. This fails for jump operators that are not invariant up to an overall phase under the symmetry; for example $\hat{L} = \hat{a} + \hat{a}^{\dagger}$ which leads to a Lindbladian that is not invariant under symmetry $\hat{\mathcal{D}}[e^{i\vartheta}\hat{a} + e^{-i\vartheta}\hat{a}^{\dagger}] \neq \hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{a} + \hat{a}^{\dagger}]$.

This idea can be generalized to establish conditions on the Hamiltonian and jump operators that lead to weak symmetry. A charged operator \hat{O} with charge q_O is an eigenvector of the U(1) symmetry superoperator $\hat{U}(\vartheta)|O\rangle = e^{iq_O\vartheta}|O\rangle = e^{iq_O\vartheta}\hat{O}$. A neutral operator is a charged operator with charge 0 for all U(1) factors. The Hamiltonian part of the Lindbladian respects weak symmetry when the Hamiltonian is symmetric under each factor of U(1) in the conventional sense, i.e. when it is neutral $\hat{U}_j(\vartheta)|H\rangle = |H\rangle = \hat{H}$. The dissipative part is weakly symmetric when each jump operator is charged under every copy of U(1).¹ In the above example with the single bosonic mode, \hat{a} and \hat{a}^{\dagger} are seen to have charges 1 and -1 respectively, while the operator $\hat{a} + \hat{a}^{\dagger}$ does not have a definite charge (i.e. is not charged) and thus does not lead to a symmetric Lindbladian.

Weak continuous symmetry does *not* conserve charge. However, weakly symmetric dynamics may still be decomposed into different charge sectors. A state with a definite charge may gain or lose charge, but it will never evolve to a quantum superposition of states with different charges. To express this idea formally, it is convenient to introduce the "classical" and "quantum" number and phase superoperators,

$$\hat{n}^{c} = (\hat{n}_{+} + \hat{n}_{-})/2, \qquad \hat{n}^{q} = \hat{n}_{+} - \hat{n}_{-}, \qquad \hat{\theta}^{c} = (\hat{\theta}_{+} + \hat{\theta}_{-})/2, \qquad \hat{\theta}^{q} = \hat{\theta}_{+} - \hat{\theta}_{-}, \qquad (14a)$$

$$[\hat{n}_{j}^{c}, \hat{\theta}_{i}^{q}] = i\delta_{ij} = [\hat{n}_{j}^{q}, \hat{\theta}_{i}^{c}], \qquad [\hat{n}_{j}^{\alpha}, \hat{\theta}_{i}^{\alpha}] = 0, \qquad [\hat{n}_{j}^{\alpha}, \hat{n}_{i}^{\beta}] = 0 = [\hat{\theta}_{j}^{\alpha}, \hat{\theta}_{i}^{\beta}], \tag{14b}$$

with $\alpha, \beta \in \{c,q\}$. The operator Hilbert space is spanned by the Fock state operators $|\mathbf{n}\rangle \langle \mathbf{n}'| = |\mathbf{n}^c, \mathbf{n}^q\rangle$, where $\mathbf{n}^c = (\mathbf{n} + \mathbf{n}')/2$ and $\mathbf{n}^q = \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{n}'$. The operators $|\mathbf{n}\rangle \langle \mathbf{n}'|$ are eigenvectors of the classical and quantum number superoperators; the phase superoperators define raising and lowering operators,

$$\hat{n}_{j}^{c}|\mathbf{n}^{c},\mathbf{n}^{q}\rangle\rangle = n_{j}^{c}|\mathbf{n}^{c},\mathbf{n}^{q}\rangle\rangle, \qquad \hat{n}_{j}^{q}|\mathbf{n}^{c},\mathbf{n}^{q}\rangle\rangle = n_{j}^{q}|\mathbf{n}^{c},\mathbf{n}^{q}\rangle\rangle,$$
(15a)

$$\exp\left(\mathrm{i}\hat{\theta}_{j}^{\mathrm{q}}\right)|\mathbf{n}^{\mathrm{c}},\mathbf{n}^{\mathrm{q}}\rangle\rangle = |\dots,n_{j}^{\mathrm{c}}+1,\dots,\mathbf{n}^{\mathrm{q}}\rangle\rangle, \qquad \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\hat{\theta}_{j}^{\mathrm{c}}\right)|\mathbf{n}^{\mathrm{c}},\mathbf{n}^{\mathrm{q}}\rangle\rangle = |\mathbf{n}^{\mathrm{c}},\dots,n_{j}^{\mathrm{q}}+1,\dots\rangle\rangle.$$
(15b)

Note that n_j^c is a positive half-integer and $n_j^q \in \{-2n_j^c, -2n_j^c + 2, \dots 2n_j^c\}$.

The weak U(1) symmetry superoperator may be expressed $\hat{\mathcal{U}}_j(\vartheta) = \exp(i\hat{n}_j^q \vartheta)$. Thus, a Lindbladian is weakly symmetric when $[\hat{\mathcal{L}}, \hat{n}_j^q] = 0$. As a consequence \mathbf{n}^q is "conserved" and is thus a good quantum number for the Lindbladian eigenspace. The quantum number \mathbf{n}^q specifies the off-diagonal character of operators in the number basis. The operators with $\mathbf{n}^q = 0$ are diagonal and thus represent statistical mixtures of states with definite numbers of particles, i.e. $|\mathbf{n}, 0\rangle = |\mathbf{n}\rangle \langle \mathbf{n}|$. In contrast, eigenvectors with $\mathbf{n}^q \neq 0$ involve quantum superpositions of

¹This is straight-forwardly proved by generalizing the argument used in the example: the dissipative superoperator is independent of the phase of \hat{L} , $\hat{\mathcal{D}}[e^{i\alpha}\hat{L}] = \hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{L}]$. It is straightforward to check by action on $|\rho\rangle\rangle$ that $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta)\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{L}] = \hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta)\hat{L}]\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta)$. Thus, for \hat{L} charged, $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta)\hat{L} = e^{iq_L\vartheta}\hat{L}$, it follows that $[\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta)\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{L}], \hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{L}]\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\vartheta)] = 0$.

different numbers of particles. With weak symmetry, the \mathbf{n}^{q} sectors of the eigenspace do not mix and thus quantum superpositions are never generated from initially classical states.

This makes the comparison of the weak symmetry Lindbladian dynamics to the classical reaction models immediate: the Lindbladian dynamics of the $\mathbf{n}^q = 0$ sector is exactly equivalent to some classical reaction model. The operator double ket $|\mathbf{n}, 0\rangle = |\mathbf{n}\rangle \langle \mathbf{n}|$ corresponds exactly to the classical state $|\mathbf{n}\rangle$ and the diagonal entries of the density matrix $\langle \mathbf{n}|\hat{\rho}|\mathbf{n}\rangle$ correspond to the classical probability distribution $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{n}}$. This mapping is *exact* on the level of operators: for $\mathbf{n}^q = 0$ the Hamiltonian part of the Lindbladian always vanishes² and the dissipative part maps to a classical reaction model, where \hat{n}_j^c and $-i\hat{\theta}_j^q$ in the quantum model correspond to \hat{n}_j and \hat{p}_j in the classical model and $\hat{\theta}^c$ never appears in symmetric Lindbladians. Conversely, *every classical reaction rule dynamics model may be represented as a pure dissipative Lindbladian evolution, obeying a set of weak U(1) symmetries, which fix \mathbf{n}^q = 0 as a conserved quantity.*

To illustrate how this works, consider the example with the jump operators $\hat{L}_{\nu} = \hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}$. Then their corresponding dissipative superoperators may be expressed in terms of number and phase superoperators. Using the Eq. (12), one finds for the bosonic superoperators:

$$\hat{a}_{+} = \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\hat{\theta}_{+}\right)\sqrt{\hat{n}_{+}}, \qquad \hat{a}_{-} = \sqrt{\hat{n}_{-}}\exp\left(\mathrm{i}\hat{\theta}_{-}\right). \tag{16}$$

Then by making use of the classical and quantum number operators and their commutation rules, one can bring the dissipative superoperator to "normal-order" in which all of the number superoperators are to the right of the phase superoperators. The result is:

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{a}] = \exp\left(i\hat{\theta}^{q}\right) \sqrt{\hat{n}^{c^{2}} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{n}^{q^{2}} - \hat{n}^{c}}, \qquad (17a)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{a}^{\dagger}] = \exp\left(-i\hat{\theta}^{q}\right) \sqrt{(\hat{n}^{c}+1)^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{n}^{q^{2}} - (\hat{n}^{c}+1)}.$$
(17b)

Upon putting $n^q = 0$ and exchanging \hat{n}^c and $-i\hat{\theta}^q$ for \hat{n} and \hat{p} , these match *exactly* the expressions in Eq. (8):

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{a}]|_{n^{q}=0} = \left(\exp\left(i\hat{\theta}^{q}\right) - 1\right)\hat{n}^{c} \longleftrightarrow (e^{-\hat{p}} - 1)\hat{n} = \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{d}, \qquad (18a)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{a}^{\dagger}]|_{n^{q}=0} = \left(\exp\left(-i\hat{\theta}^{q}\right) - 1\right)(\hat{n}^{c} + 1) \longleftrightarrow (e^{\hat{p}} - 1)(\hat{n} + 1) = \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{r} + \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{s}.$$
(18b)

Thus, the diagonal dynamics of $\hat{L} = \hat{a}$ is equivalent to the classical reaction rule $A \rightarrow \emptyset$ and $\hat{L} = \hat{a}^{\dagger}$ is equivalent to the combination $A \rightarrow 2A$ and $\emptyset \rightarrow A$ occurring at the same rate. The correspondence between other (weakly symmetric) jump operators and classical reaction rules can be determined using the number representation in a similar way. In general single jump operators correspond to several reaction rules simultaneously. Some examples are listed in Table 1.

Like classical reaction models, Lindbladian dynamics can feature stationary states which cannot be exited once entered. We will use the term dark state for such quantum absorbing states to clearly distinguish with the classical setting. Formally, a dark state, $\hat{\rho}_D$, is a stationary state which is annihilated by both the Hamiltonian, $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$, part and *each* dissipative term, $\hat{\mathcal{D}}[\hat{L}_v]$, of the Lindbladian independently. For a *pure* dark state, $\hat{\rho}_D = |D\rangle \langle D|$, state $|D\rangle$ must be an eigenvector of \hat{H} and must be annihilated by every jump operator, $\hat{L}_v |D\rangle = 0$. In such cases,

²For polynomials of \hat{a}_j and \hat{a}_j^{\dagger} , symmetry requires \hat{H} to depend only on the number \hat{n}_j and not the phase $\hat{\theta}_j$ of each bosonic mode. All terms in the Hamiltonian superoperator $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ are thus always proportional to at least one factor of \hat{n}_j^q , as follows from the requirement that $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ preserve the density matrix trace.

Table 1: The right column shows the classical reaction rules describing a classical dynamics of the charge diagonal subspace of the corresponding jump operators in the left column. The rate γ is the rate of the quantum process, so that the dissipative part of the Lindbladian is $\gamma \hat{D}[\hat{L}]$. The crossed out entry corresponding to $\hat{L} = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$ indicates that there are no reaction rules for this jump operator. This exemplifies the more general fact that neutral operators have no effect on the *diagonal* subspace and thus do not correspond to any classical reaction rules (they do nevertheless have an effect on the overall dynamics, causing decoherence of the $\mathbf{n}^{q} \neq 0$ subspaces). One should also make special note of the second to last entry, in which the jump operator translates to classical reaction rules even though it is sum of terms with different numbers of bosonic creation operators because each term has the same charge.

Jump Operator \hat{L}	Reaction Rules
â	$A \xrightarrow{\gamma} \emptyset$
\hat{a}^{\dagger}	$\emptyset \xrightarrow{\gamma} A, A \xrightarrow{\gamma} 2A$
\hat{a}^2	$2A \xrightarrow{2\gamma} \emptyset$
$\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$	×
$\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}^{2}$	$3A \xrightarrow{6\gamma} 2A, 2A \xrightarrow{2\gamma} A$
$\hat{a}^{\dagger 2}\hat{a}$	$3A \xrightarrow{6\gamma} 4A, 2A \xrightarrow{8\gamma} 3A, A \xrightarrow{2\gamma} 2A$
$(\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}+1)\hat{a}$	$3A \xrightarrow{6\gamma} 2A, 2A \xrightarrow{6\gamma} A, A \xrightarrow{\gamma} \emptyset$
$\hat{b}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$	$A \xrightarrow{\gamma} B, A + B \xrightarrow{\gamma} 2B$

any set of observables $\{\hat{O}_a\}$ with $|D\rangle$ as an eigenvector, $\hat{O}_a |D\rangle = O_a^{(D)} |D\rangle$, have no fluctuations for any time ordering,

$$\langle \hat{O}_{a_N}^{\sigma_N}(t_N) \cdots \hat{O}_{a_2}^{\sigma_2}(t_2) \hat{O}_{a_1}^{\sigma_1}(t_1) \rangle = O_{a_N}^{(D)} \cdots O_{a_2}^{(D)} O_{a_1}^{(D)}.$$
(19)

This is analogous to the classical fluctuationlessness as in Eq. (7). Unlike the classical case, though, this does not apply for all expectation values: operators that do not have $|D\rangle$ as an eigenvector, still have correlation functions with a nontrivial time dependence.

2.4 Quantum population dynamics

A weakly symmetric Lindbladian dynamics which has the Fock vacuum, $|\mathbf{0}\rangle$, as a dark state has diagonal dynamics equivalent to a classical population dynamics. We thus define a *quantum population dynamics* as a Lindbladian dynamics that has the Fock vacuum as a dark state but is *not* required to be weakly symmetric. This retains intuition of the zero population state being an absorbing, fluctuationless state, while allowing for distinctly quantum processes in which states with definite numbers of animals may evolve to quantum superpositions of different numbers. In such models, all jump operators have the form $\hat{L}_{\nu} = \hat{O}_{\nu}\hat{a}_{j}$ where \hat{O}_{ν} can be any polynomial of \hat{a}_{j} and \hat{a}_{j}^{\dagger} . The Lindbladian eigenspace mixes charge sectors and \mathbf{n}^{q} is no longer a good quantum number. As a consequence, generically all other eigenvectors, possibly including other stationary states, involve superpositions of different populations. Note that for such models, a stronger statement than Eq. (19) also holds: any time-ordered dark state expectations of any charged operators vanish identically.

As a simple illustration of this concept we introduce what we dub a "Schrödinger cat" process, in which an animal is driven into a coherent superposition of being alive and dead: $|1\rangle \rightarrow |1\rangle + |0\rangle$. One choice of jump operator that encodes such process is $\hat{L}_c = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a} + \hat{a}$, which acts as:

$$\hat{L}_{c}|n\rangle = n|n\rangle + \sqrt{n}|n-1\rangle.$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Thus, such (intrinsically incoherent) processes take classical states of a given population to coherent quantum superpositions of different population numbers.

In higher spatial dimensions, in order for a Lindbladian to have a classical diagonal dynamics the weak symmetry must be promoted to a *local* symmetry, $[\hat{\mathcal{U}}_j(\vartheta_{\mathbf{r}}), \hat{\mathcal{L}}] = 0$, with \mathbf{r} a lattice vector. This condition is compatible with incoherent hopping terms, $\hat{L}_{\mathbf{r},\pm\mathbf{a}_i} = \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}\pm\mathbf{a}_i}^{\dagger}\hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}}$, which when taken together with each lattice unit vector \mathbf{a}_i define a density dependent classical random walk as a combination of the processes $A_{\mathbf{r}} \rightarrow A_{\mathbf{r}+\mathbf{a}_i}$ and $A_{\mathbf{r}} + A_{\mathbf{r}+\mathbf{a}_i} \rightarrow 2A_{\mathbf{r}+\mathbf{a}_i}$ (see Table 1). However, local symmetry is not compatible with more standard kinds of quantum hopping terms, even those respecting global U(1). Thus, quantum hopping either in the Hamiltonian or in a jump operator is an alternative way to introduce quantum effects in the population dynamics. As an example, consider dissipation on the bond of the lattice $\hat{L}_{\mathbf{r},\pm\mathbf{a}_i} = \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}\pm\mathbf{a}_i} + \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}}$. In the simplest case of a 1D chain, this acts as:

$$\hat{L}_{r,+} | \dots, n_r, n_{r+1}, \dots \rangle = | \dots, n_r, n_{r+1} - 1, \dots \rangle + | \dots, n_r - 1, n_{r+1}, \dots \rangle .$$
(21)

Such processes do not mix states with different amounts of total charge, but instead generate superpositions of populations at different points in space.

Classical population models may have more than one absorbing state. One example is provided by a set of reactions in which all processes require at least k > 1 agents to initiate a reaction [68]. In such multi-agent processes, any probability distribution over only the states involving less than k animals is an absorbing state. A natural quantum generalization of the multi-agent process can be defined by only allowing jump operators of the form $\hat{L}_v = \hat{O}_v \hat{a}^k$, which has a space of dark states spanned by the Fock states $|n\rangle$, n < k. A potentially more interesting appropriation of the spirit of such models is to instead build a model with a dark space that is quantum in nature. As an example, consider the jump operator

$$\hat{L}_{\phi_0} = \hat{a}^2 - \phi_0 \hat{a} \,, \tag{22}$$

where ϕ_0 is a complex number. It can be thought of as a superposition of the two classical processes $2A \rightarrow \emptyset$ and $A \rightarrow \emptyset$. In addition to the Fock vacuum, $|0\rangle$, \hat{L}_{ϕ_0} also annihilates the coherent state $|\phi_0\rangle$ and therefore possesses a dark *space* spanned by the two states $|\phi_0\rangle$ and $|0\rangle$. Thus, despite being composed of two classical processes which both act to reduce the overall population, such a quantum population process stabilizes a state which, for large $|\phi_0|$, may have a large average population. This property is retained so long as all jump operators are of the form $\hat{L}_{\phi_0\nu} = \hat{O}_{\nu}(\hat{a} - \phi_0)\hat{a}$. It can also be retained in finite dimensional models, for example by including quantum diffusion terms like Eq. (21). Because such terms also kill the spatially homogeneous coherent state, such models may thus feature macroscopically large dark populations even in the thermodynamic limit.

For the remainder of this manuscript we will focus on generic quantum population dynamics, without any additional symmetries or constraints. The quantum population dynamic rules with extra constraints or symmetries, which may include presence of dark spaces, are left for future inquiries.

3 Field theory of absorbing states

In zero dimensions and in the absence of additional constraints or symmetries a stable classical population dynamics always has only one true stationary state: the dead absorbing state of a total extinction. Even in models with competition between proliferation and death which may lead to long-lived meta-stable states with finite populations, there is always a finite extinction probability due to rare events. In spatially extended models, areas of parameter space which support meta-stable states are extended into dynamical phases with stable (but fluctuating) populations. In such active phases the extinct absorbing state is dynamically inaccessible: initial conditions with small regions of finite population grows, eventually leading to a stable finite population across the entire space. Active phases and dead phases, in which all initial populations eventually die, are separated by a continuous phase transition. The simplest example of such classical absorbing state transition with a single species and no additional discrete symmetries or constraints belongs to the directed percolation universality class [18,46–49,52].

This naturally poses the question as to whether quantum generalizations of population models, as introduced in the previous section, may feature new types of continuous transitions between an inactive dark phase and a phase with a dynamically inaccessible dark state. In order to address this question, we develop a field theory treatment of (bosonic) quantum population models.

3.1 Classical directed percolation

The most basic example of a classical absorbing state transition with a single species and no additional discrete symmetries or constraints belongs to the directed percolation universality class [18, 46–49]. We will not present derivation, which can be done for example using Doi-Peliti formalism [44, 45].

The effective stochastic field theory of a classical population dynamics in *d* spatial dimensions is encoded in the partition function:

$$Z = \int \mathrm{D}n \,\mathrm{D}p \,\mathrm{e}^{-S[n,p]},\tag{23a}$$

$$S[n,p] = \int dx \left(p(\partial_t - D\partial_r^2)n - W(n,p) \right), \qquad (23b)$$

where $x = (t, \mathbf{r})$, n(x) is the local population number, and p(x) is a canonically conjugated auxiliary field. The effective local "Hamiltonian", W(n, p), is obtained from the corresponding *normally ordered* reaction operators, $\hat{W}(\hat{n}, \hat{p})$, of, e.g., Eqs. (8a,b) by substituting canonically conjugated operators \hat{n} and \hat{p} with functions of time (and space), n(x) and p(x), [52]. Expanding such obtained W(n, p) to the lowest non-trivial orders in both n and p, one arrives at:

$$W(n,p) = p(\delta - g_1 n + g_2 p)n.$$
(24)

This defines the action for the so-called Reggeon field theory [69–71]. Many different reaction rules can give rise to the same long wavelength theory. One such combination of reaction processes is death, asexual reproduction, and competition: $A \rightarrow \emptyset$, $A \rightarrow 2A$, and $2A \rightarrow \emptyset$. Diffusion can be obtained by the random walk $A_r \rightarrow A_{r\pm a_i}$ on, for example, a square lattice. Any processes involving larger groups of animals can also be added, but they will not effect the form of the leading-order parts of the action. Such additional higher-order terms may be included, but they are irrelevant in the RG sense and so will have minimal effects on the universal features of the model.

The noiseless equation of motion for the local number is the well-known FKPP equation [72, 73]:

$$(\partial_t - D\partial_r^2)n = (\delta - g_1 n)n.$$
⁽²⁵⁾

The mass term δ microscopically originates from the difference between the birth and death rates and thus may be either positive or negative. This predicts two distinct phases, which at the mean field level depends on the sign of δ . For $\delta < 0$, i.e. when the death rate exceeds the birth rate, there are no stable solutions other than n = 0. This indicates an absorbing phase, in which all populations eventually die and the only stationary state is total extinction. Alternatively for $\delta > 0$ there is an active phase: any nonzero population grows until reaching the environmental capacity, eventually saturating to a stable average value $\langle n \rangle = \delta/g_1$.

The Reggeon field theory constitutes a universal theory for classical absorbing state transitions in the absence of additional symmetries or dynamical constraints. Like all stochastic field theories the action obeys S[n, p = 0] = 0, which is required for the conservation of probability. As a consequence of the absorbing state, it also possesses a parallel property for the classical field,

$$S[n=0,p] = 0. (26)$$

This property guarantees the validity of Eq. (7), which in the present context implies:

$$\langle n(x_N)\cdots n(x_2)n(x_1)\rangle = 0.$$
⁽²⁷⁾

That is, *all* correlation functions of only the classical field *n* are identically zero in the absorbing state. This is an exact property of the action and is present for all microscopic population models regardless of what particular reaction rules are present. In equilibrium, symmetries determine the content of a theory and the universality of any phase transitions by constraining what terms are permitted in the action and consequently what types of RG flows are allowed. In reaction models with absorbing states, it is instead dynamical constraints which put conditions on the action (in the present context, S[n = 0, p] = 0) that specify what terms are allowed. The requirement that such conditions be preserved under RG lead to universality distinct from those present in equilibrium models, even in the absence of symmetry.

The Reggeon field theory happens to possesses the Reggeon inversion symmetry, which is a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry that combines time reversal and the exchange of the auxiliary and classical fields:

$$n(t,\mathbf{r}) \to -\frac{g_2}{g_1}p(-t,\mathbf{r}), \qquad p(t,\mathbf{r}) \to -\frac{g_1}{g_2}n(-t,\mathbf{r}).$$
(28)

This symmetry is not always present microscopically, but does emerge at long wavelengths for many different population models. This provides another characterization of the difference between the absorbing and active phases: the symmetry is spontaneously broken in the active phase, with the finite population, $\langle n \rangle$, acting as \mathbb{Z}_2 order parameter. We note that symmetry breaking is not required for all absorbing state transitions and indeed no such symmetry is present in other types of absorbing state transitions [18, 49, 50], for example those possessing additional symmetries or dynamical constraints.

The scaling of various quantities near the critical point can be studied using RG. The resulting critical exponents define the directed percolation universality class. The upper critical dimension of the model is d = 4. Using a standard ϵ -expansion approach with $\epsilon = 4 - d$, one finds Wilson-Fisher fixed point with the critical exponents to leading order in ϵ given by [18, 46–49, 52]:

$$\mathbf{z} = 2 - \frac{\epsilon}{12}, \qquad \mathbf{v} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\epsilon}{16}, \qquad \mathbf{a} = 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{4}, \qquad \mathbf{\beta} = 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{6},$$
(29)

where z is the dynamical critical exponent, v is the correlation length exponent, a sets the extinction dynamics right at the criticality $\langle n(t) \rangle \sim t^{-a}$, and β determines the critical scaling of the average population size near the critical point $\langle n \rangle \sim \delta^{\beta}$ for $\delta > 0$.

3.2 Keldysh formalism for theories with dark states

To study the critical behaviour of quantum population models, a similar field theory treatment is needed. The number and phase representation introduced in the previous section is not easily amenable to a field theory representation, so we instead develop the standard coherent state Keldysh path integral for this purpose [15, 17, 52]. For simplicity we consider a single bosonic mode in *d* dimensions. We focus on quantum population models, in which the Fock vacuum $|0\rangle$ is a dark state of the Lindbladian dynamics. This requirement constrains the allowed terms in the action similar to a symmetry constraints or the fluctuationless requirement of classical population models discussed above. The formalism discussed here can be adapted to more general theories with different or additional dark states by modifying the nature of this constraint.

The partition function for the Keldysh field theory is:

$$Z = \int \mathbf{D}\phi^{\alpha}\mathbf{D}\bar{\phi}^{\alpha}\,\mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{i}S[\phi^{c},\phi^{q}]},\tag{30a}$$

$$S[\phi^{\rm c},\phi^{\rm q}] = \int \mathrm{d}x \left(\bar{\phi}^{\rm q} \mathrm{i}\partial_t \phi^{\rm c} + \bar{\phi}^{\rm c} \mathrm{i}\partial_t \phi^{\rm q} - \mathcal{K}(\phi^{\alpha},\bar{\phi}^{\alpha}) \right), \tag{30b}$$

where ϕ^{α} the Keldysh basis of fields defined by the standard rotation $\phi^{c,q} = (\phi^+ \pm \phi^-)/\sqrt{2}$, with ϕ^{\pm} the field variables corresponding to the bosonic operator \hat{a} on the forward/backward part of the Keldysh time contour, $\phi^{\pm} \leftrightarrow \hat{a}_{\pm}, \ \bar{\phi}^{\pm} \leftrightarrow \hat{a}_{\pm}^{\dagger}$, [52]. Performing such substitutions in the Lindbladian superoperator, Eqs. (9), (10), one obtains the Keldysh "Hamiltonian", $\mathcal{K}(\phi^c, \phi^c, \phi^q, \phi^q)$. Generically it includes any terms allowed from either the Hamiltonian and dissipative parts of the Lindbladian dynamics [15, 17]. The *N*-point functions, as in Eq. (11), are given by path integral expectations,

$$\langle \phi_{j_{N}}^{\sigma_{N}}(t_{N})\cdots \bar{\phi}_{j_{2}}^{\sigma_{2}}(t_{2})\phi_{j_{1}}^{\sigma_{1}}(t_{1})\rangle_{\rho} = \langle \langle 1|\hat{a}_{j_{N}\sigma_{N}}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_{N}-t_{N-1}}\cdots \hat{a}_{j_{2}\sigma_{2}}^{\dagger}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_{2}-t_{1}}\hat{a}_{j_{1}\sigma_{1}}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t_{1}}|\rho\rangle \rangle, \qquad (31)$$

where $\sigma \in \{+, -\}$.

To conserve probability, the Keldysh action must obey $S[\phi^c, \phi^q = 0] = 0$. Similar to the field theory for classical population models the Keldysh action must also obey a parallel property for the classical fields

$$S[\phi^{c} = -\phi^{q}, \bar{\phi}^{c} = \bar{\phi}^{q}] = 0.$$
(32)

This ensures the action vanishes when $\phi^+ = 0 = \bar{\phi}^-$, which corresponds to the action of \hat{a} on the left and \hat{a}^{\dagger} on the right of the density matrix, both of which vanish in the extinct dark state, $|0\rangle$. This constraint on the action comes from the fluctuationlessness of observables and charged operators, as per by Eq. (19). For example, any dark state expectations of either ϕ^{α} (without $\bar{\phi}^{\alpha}$) or the number $n^{\pm} = \bar{\phi}^{\pm} \phi^{\pm}$ is identically zero,

$$\langle \phi^{\alpha_N}(x_N) \cdots \phi^{\alpha_2}(x_2) \phi^{\alpha_1}(x_1) \rangle = 0, \qquad (33a)$$

$$\langle n^{\alpha_N}(x_N) \cdots n^{\alpha_2}(x_2) n^{\alpha_1}(x_1) \rangle = 0,$$
 (33b)

with $n^{c,q} = (n^+ \pm n^-)/2$. Unlike the classical theory discussed in the previous section in which all the expectations of only the classical number field *n* vanish in the absorbing state Eq. (27), certain dark state expectations of the classical fields ϕ^c , $\bar{\phi}^c$ do *not* vanish. This is reminiscent of differences between classical and quantum models at zero temperature: quantum systems will have vacuum fluctuations even in the absence of thermal excitations while classical systems are totally inert. Correlation functions of only classical fields are nevertheless constrained by the dark state condition, being expressible in terms of other mixed expectations involving ϕ^q , $\bar{\phi}^q$.

We make this idea precise at the level of two-point function. The spectral and Keldysh components of the Green's functions are:

$$\begin{bmatrix} iG^{K}(x,x') & iG^{R}(x,x') \\ iG^{A}(x,x') & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} \phi^{c}(x) \\ \phi^{q}(x) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\phi}^{c}(x') & \bar{\phi}^{q}(x') \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle.$$
(34)

The Keldysh and spectral components are related by the distribution function F(x, x') by $G^{K} = G^{R} \circ F - F \circ G^{A}$ where \circ denotes operator composition of spacetime arguments. In the Keldysh theory for non-interacting Lindbladians *F* is always a delta-correlated in the stationary state, with $F_{st} = \delta(x, x')$ for $\rho_{st} = |0\rangle \langle 0|$ [17]. For a quantum population model this property is *exact* even when interactions are present.³ Note also that the Nambu components of any Green's functions are automatically zero in the dark state as a consequence of Eq. (33). Thus in total one finds for $|0\rangle$ a dark state:

$$G^{\rm K} = G^{\rm R} - G^{\rm A}, \tag{35a}$$

$$\langle \phi^{\alpha} \phi^{\beta} \rangle = 0 = \langle \bar{\phi}^{\alpha} \bar{\phi}^{\beta} \rangle . \tag{35b}$$

In other words there is an exact relationship between Keldysh and spectral Greens function that holds beyond perturbation theory. Similar conditions will appear in any theory with a dark state, though their exact form will depend on the details of the dark state(s) present.

This situation is somewhat similar to the KMS condition in the equilibrium Keldysh theory, which relates retarded and advanced correlation functions to Keldysh correlation functions via the FDT and its generalizations. This fact in the equilibrium theory allows for the development of the Matsubara formalism, which dramatically simplifies many calculations by recasting everything in terms of a single Green's function, the imaginary time Matsubara function. In the present non-equilibrium context, the dark state condition makes a similar reduction possible. The formal tool to achieve this is known as the "third quantized" basis of superoperators [59-63] or its Keldysh field theory equivalent [17, 64]. This method was originally developed to study non-interacting Lindbladian theories and relies on the fact that F is delta-correlated in time. For general interacting Lindbladians which generically may have off-diagonal in time F, such a reduction is not feasible. However, for models with dark states, where F is required to be delta-correlated in time, it can naturally be extended to the manybody setting. This approach allows for the evaluation of stationary expectations to be carried out using a single *real-time* Green's function. This considerably simplifies certain calculations, most notably for our purposes perturbative RG. We note that this formalism does not provide an advantage when considering non-stationary distributions, as then F is time dependent and not generically delta-correlated and thus the third-quantized basis becomes ill-defined. If one is interested in such quantities, more standard approaches based on Keldysh kinetic theory would likely be more suitable; some progress has been made to develop a Keldysh kinetic description of quantum population models in [28].

³Consider t > t'. In the superoperator language, $G^{K}(t,t') = \langle \langle 1 | \hat{a}_{c} \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t-t'} \hat{a}_{c}^{\dagger} | \rho \rangle \rangle$ and $G^{R}(t,t') = \langle \langle 1 | \hat{a}_{c} \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t-t'} \hat{a}_{q}^{\dagger} | \rho \rangle \rangle$. In the the extinct stationary state $\rho = |0\rangle \langle 0|$, one has $\hat{a}_{c}^{\dagger} | \rho \rangle \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{a}_{+}^{\dagger} | \rho \rangle \rangle = \hat{a}_{q}^{\dagger} | \rho \rangle \rangle$ and thus $G^{K} = G^{R}$. A similar argument shows $G^{R} = -G^{A}$ when t < t', which together gives the first equation in Eq. (35). For the second equation, for t > t' one has $\langle \phi^{\alpha}(t)\phi^{\beta}(t')\rangle = \langle \langle 1 | \hat{a}_{\alpha}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t-t'} \hat{a}_{\beta} | \rho \rangle \rangle \propto \langle \langle 1 | \hat{a}_{\alpha}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t-t'} | \rho \hat{a} \rangle \rangle$. Because of the dark state condition, the dynamics only evolve the right side of the operator $\rho \hat{a}$. Indeed, so long as $|0\rangle$ is a dark state, $\hat{\mathcal{L}}(\rho \hat{a}) = \rho \hat{a}(i\hat{H} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{v}\gamma_{v}\hat{L}_{v}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{v})$. As a consequence, one has $\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t-t'}(\rho \hat{a}) = \sum_{n} c_{n} |0\rangle \langle n|$ where the specific coefficients c_{n} depend on the details of the dynamics. Thus, $\langle \langle 1 | \hat{a}_{\alpha}\hat{\mathcal{U}}_{t-t'} \hat{a}_{\beta} | \rho \rangle = \sum_{n} c_{n} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{a}_{n} | 0\rangle \langle n|)$. For $\hat{a}_{\alpha} = \hat{a}_{c,q}$ this is $\sum_{n} c_{n} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{a} | 0\rangle \langle n| \pm | 0\rangle \langle n| \hat{a})$, which is identically zero because the first term here is annihilated by $\hat{a} | 0\rangle = 0$ and the second term is a traceless operator inside the trace. This gives the second equation in Eq. (35), and moreover a generalization of this argument also demonstrates the validity of Eq. (33a).

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{G}(x,x') & & \bar{\mathcal{G}}(x,x') \\ x & & & & \\ x' & & & x' & \\ \end{array}$$

Figure 1: Diagrammatic representation of the dark space Green's function \mathcal{G} . Solid and dashed lines represent the classical and auxiliary fields ϕ and χ ; in- and outgoing lines denote fields and their conjugates.

This representation is obtained by diagonalizing the quadratic part of the Keldysh action. For the quantum population dynamics, the most generic quadratic action⁴ has the structure:

$$S_{0} = \int \mathrm{d}x \left[\bar{\phi}^{\mathrm{c}} \quad \bar{\phi}^{\mathrm{q}} \right] \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \mathrm{i}\partial_{t} - \Delta_{\mathrm{r}} - \mathrm{i}\sum_{\nu}\bar{\mu}_{\nu\mathrm{r}}\mu_{\nu\mathrm{r}} \\ 2\mathrm{i}\sum_{\nu}\bar{\mu}_{\nu\mathrm{r}}\mu_{\nu\mathrm{r}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \phi^{\mathrm{c}} \\ \phi^{\mathrm{q}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (36)$$

where the Hamiltonian and dissipative contributions, $\Delta_{\mathbf{r}}$ and $\mu_{v\mathbf{r}}$ correspondingly, may include both constants or spatially local differential operators. Diagonalizing this quadratic form is achieved by introducing the new classical and quantum fields:

$$\phi = \phi^{c} + \phi^{q}, \qquad \bar{\phi} = \bar{\phi}^{c} - \bar{\phi}^{q}, \qquad \chi = -\phi^{q}, \qquad \bar{\chi} = \bar{\phi}^{q}. \tag{37}$$

Naively in this new basis $\overline{\phi}$ and $\overline{\chi}$ are not the complex conjugates of ϕ and χ . This problem can be fixed by deforming the original functional integration contour, in particular by complexifying the space of only the quantum fields so that $\overline{\chi} = \chi^*$ is the complex conjugate of χ , from which it follows also that $\overline{\phi} = \phi^*$. Letting $iS[\phi^{\alpha}] = -S[\phi, \chi]$, the resulting action including both the quadratic part S_0 and any interactions is:

$$S[\phi,\chi] = \int dx \left(\bar{\chi} \partial_t \phi + \chi \partial_t \bar{\phi} - K(\phi,\bar{\phi},\chi,\bar{\chi}) \right), \qquad (38a)$$

$$K(\phi, \bar{\phi}, \chi, \bar{\chi}) = \bar{\chi} \Big(\Delta_{\mathbf{r}} - i \sum_{\nu} \bar{\mu}_{\nu \mathbf{r}} \mu_{\nu \mathbf{r}} \Big) \phi + \ldots + \text{c.c.}, \qquad (38b)$$

where (...) indicates any nonlinear terms included in the theory. The effective Hamiltonian $K(\phi, \bar{\phi}, \chi, \bar{\chi})$ is always real and thus defines an invariant subspace of the motion of the full Keldysh quasi-classical mechanics. The two-point functions define a single new Green's function,

$$\mathcal{G}(x,x') = \langle \phi(x)\bar{\chi}(x') \rangle , \qquad \bar{\mathcal{G}}(x,x') = \langle \chi(x)\bar{\phi}(x') \rangle , \qquad (39a)$$

$$\langle \phi(x)\chi(x')\rangle = 0 = \langle \phi(x)\bar{\chi}(x')\rangle$$
, (39b)

$$\langle \phi(x)\bar{\phi}(x')\rangle = 0 = \langle \phi(x)\phi(x')\rangle, \qquad \langle \chi(x)\bar{\chi}(x')\rangle = 0 = \langle \chi(x)\chi(x')\rangle, \qquad (39c)$$

which follows immediately from expressing Eq. (35) in terms of the new fields ϕ and χ . In particular, $\langle \phi(x)\bar{\phi}(x')\rangle = G^{K} - G^{R} + G^{R} = 0$. Noting also that $\langle \phi\bar{\chi}\rangle = \langle \phi^{c}\bar{\phi}^{q} + \phi^{q}\bar{\phi}^{q}\rangle$, the functional form of the diagonal Green function \mathcal{G} is always related to the standard retarded Green's function $\mathcal{G}(x, x') = iG^{R}(x, x')$. We choose the convention for $\bar{\mathcal{G}}$ so that in Fourier space $\bar{\mathcal{G}}(p) = (\mathcal{G}(p))^{*}$. The diagrammatic representation of these Green's functions is depicted in Fig. 1.

The action (38), resulting from this procedure, always respects the conditions of probability conservation and fluctuationlessness of the dark state,

$$S[\phi, \chi = 0] = 0 = S[\phi = 0, \chi].$$
(40)

⁴This is the most generic form of action for a quadratic Lindbladian with spatial locality for which the Fock vacuum is a stationary state [17]. Such an action corresponds to the linear Hamiltonian $\hat{H} = \int_{\mathbf{r}} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}}^{\dagger} \Delta_{\mathbf{r}} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}}$ and jump operators $\hat{L}_{\nu \mathbf{r}} = \mu_{\nu \mathbf{r}} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}}$.

This is the analog of the condition (26), respected by the classical population models. Thus, similar to the classical theory, quantum population models are characterized by the conditions placed on the action by the dynamical constraints, imposed by the existence of the dark state. The primary conceptual difference is that the quantum theory is defined on the level of the bosonic field $\phi \sim \sqrt{n}$. It is this fact that allows the inclusion of superpositions of classical reaction processes, such as the cat process, Eq. (20). In the quantum theory the population number is associated with a two-point correlation function: recalling that $\phi = \sqrt{2}\phi^+$ and $\bar{\phi} = \sqrt{2}\bar{\phi}^-$, one has $\langle \hat{n}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = \langle \bar{\phi} \phi \rangle /2$. This has significant consequences on the critical scaling of the population near the dark state transition, as will be discussed below.

4 Universal theory of Schrödinger cat populations

We apply the above formalism to develop a universal field theory for a quantum population dynamics of a single species with no additional symmetries or constraints beyond locality and spacial homogeneity. We find two phases: an active phase, which hosts a quantum superposition of finite stable populations, and an extinct "dark" phase. By tuning a single complex parameter these two phases are connected by a continuous transition. The RG reveals the transition to belong to a distinct universality class, though some (but not all) of its critical indexes coincide with the DP class (at least to the one loop order, considered here).

In the absence of additional symmetries, there are three sources of quantum features that end up being relevant in the RG sense: cat processes and superpositions of death processes $\hat{L}_c \sim \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \hat{a}$ and $\hat{a}^2 + \hat{a}$, incoherent quantum hopping $\hat{L} \sim \partial_r \hat{a}$, and Hamiltonian terms. The incoherent processes alone describe the dynamics of a population of animals which can both multiply and die in the standard classical way and also enter superpositions of being simultaneously alive and dead or being in different locations in space. In models with only classical population processes the Hamiltonian plays no role because dynamics are restricted to the diagonal of the charge basis. When quantum population processes are present this restriction is lifted and dynamics spread into the entire Fock space, so coherent effects also affect the dynamics.

Microscopically the Hamiltonian can contain any operators of the schematic form $\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{O}\hat{a}$ and the jump operators must take the general form $\hat{L}_{\nu} = \hat{O}_{\nu}\hat{a}$. We place no restrictions on the operators \hat{O} , \hat{O}_{ν} besides spatial homogeneity and locality. The specific form of allowed jump operators and Hamiltonians is discussed in Appendix A. A resulting universal action for such models is obtained by expanding the generic action of Eq. (38) to lowest non-trivial terms in both $\phi(x)$ and $\chi(x)$ complex fields,

$$S[\phi,\chi] = \int \mathrm{d}x \left(\bar{\chi} (\partial_t - D\partial_r^2) \phi - \bar{\chi} (\alpha + \beta_1 \phi + \beta_2 \bar{\chi} + \beta_3 \bar{\phi}) \phi \right) + \mathrm{c.c.}, \qquad (41)$$

where α , β_j , and *D* are all complex parameters (see Appendix A for their relation to microscopic reaction rates). Their real parts are set by the strength of the quantum population processes, corresponding respectively to the rates of classical death, cat processes, and incoherent quantum hopping.⁵ The imaginary parts of the parameters come from Hamiltonian contributions.

The action of Eq. (41) is a universal action for the quantum Schrödinger cat population dynamics. It may be obtained without appeal to specific details of microscopic reaction rules by

⁵Naively it seems that only a negative real part for α is permitted, as this corresponds to a positive rate for the death process, $\hat{L}_d = \hat{a}$. Moreover, there is no microscopic operator one can construct from \hat{a} and \hat{a}^{\dagger} that encodes the linear reproduction processes $A \rightarrow 2A$ by itself. However, higher-order branching/reproduction processes (for example, $\hat{L} = \hat{a}^{\dagger^2} \hat{a}$, see table 1) can renormalize the real part of the mass, α , to a positive value.



Figure 2: Allowed vertices of the Schrödinger cat population field theory. The conjugate vertices with coupling $\bar{\beta}_j$ are also included and are given by reversing the directions of all arrows.

writing all RG relevant terms allowed by the conditions imposed on the action and correlation functions by the existence of the dark state as encoded by Eqs. (39) and (40). Such constraints are not readily reducible to a symmetry, but are nevertheless preserved under RG and restrict the allowed vertices in the action. The three cubic vertices, given above and for which the corresponding diagrams are shown in Fig. 2, are the only allowed vertices with three fields that do not violate these conditions.⁶ The microscopic origin of the cubic vertices can be traced (see Appendix A) to both the cubic terms in the Hamiltonian and the quantum reaction process $\hat{L}_c \sim \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \hat{a}$ and $\hat{a}^2 + \hat{a}$ (in particular the cross terms of the dissipative superoperator containing three powers of \hat{a} and \hat{a}^{\dagger}). Such terms have the schematic form $\sim \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} \hat{a}$. They correspond to both coherent and incoherent processes that change the particle number on one side of the density matrix, thus producing superpositions of different number states.

Any vertices with higher than the third power in the fields are less relevant in the RG sense. Indeed, from the linear part of the action one finds that bare value of scaling dimensions Δ_{ϕ} and Δ_{χ} of ϕ and χ are $\Delta_{\phi} = -d/2 = \Delta_{\chi}$. When accounting for fluctuations, both Δ_{ϕ} and Δ_{χ} receive perturbative corrections, however the relation $\Delta_{\phi} = \Delta_{\chi}$ remains intact. The equality of the classical and auxiliary fields' scaling dimensions is a property shared with the classical directed percolation field theory. This is also matches to what is found for "quantum" scaling in other Lindblad models [16, 56]. Noting also the bare value for the dynamical exponent z = 2, one sees that local third order terms are marginal for d = 4 and are the only relevant vertices for $4 > d \ge 3$.

Despite the formal similarity to the action for classical directed percolation, Eq. (23), the Schrödinger cat population action (41) has a very different physical meaning. Eq. (23) cannot be retrieved as a limit of Eq. (41). The primary fields ϕ and χ are complex variables and may take values in the entire complex plane. The fluctuationless equation of motion for the classical field resembles the classical noiseless FKPP equation Eq. (25), but with a complex variable:

$$(\partial_t - D\partial_r^2)\phi = (\alpha + \beta_1\phi + \beta_3\bar{\phi})\phi.$$
(42)

In addition to $\phi = 0$, this equation has another spatially homogeneous solution:

$$\underline{\phi} = \frac{\bar{\alpha}\beta_3 - \alpha\bar{\beta}_1}{\bar{\beta}_1\beta_1 - \bar{\beta}_3\beta_3}.$$
(43)

In a dark phase, the $\phi = 0$ solution must be dynamically stable and other fixed points must be unstable. An active phase alternatively must have an unstable dark state and a stable finite population, Eq. (43). If both fixed points are fail to be dynamically stable, the model requires higher-order nonlinearities to stabilize and thus depends on the details of higher-order vertices.

⁶Naively it appears that additional terms like $\bar{\chi} \chi \phi$, $\chi \phi \phi$, etc. may be allowed, as they respect Eq. (40). This is however not the case: such terms never appear from a microscopic construction, as discussed in Appendix A. Moreover, their naive inclusion in the effective field theory leads to perturbative violations of Eq. (39). As an example, note that the inclusion of a vertex $\chi \phi \phi$ permits contraction with the β_2 vertex: $\langle (\chi \phi \phi)(\bar{\chi} \bar{\chi} \phi) \rangle \sim \langle \phi \bar{\chi} \rangle \langle \phi \bar{\chi} \rangle \chi \phi$ and thus generates a forbidden $\chi \phi$ coupling.

Such situations generically correspond to first-order transitions and will not be considered here in detail.

A phase transition separating a dark phase and an active phase can be found in any dimension d > 0. When the transition is continuous, it can be studied using standard perturbative RG by expanding near the critical dimension $d_c = 4$ in $\epsilon = 4 - d$, details of the critical scaling in $4 > d \ge 3$ are presented in subsequent sections. For $d \ge 4$, all non-linear vertices have a RG irrelevant scaling and so the critical scaling becomes mean-field (though one may infer that fluctuations may still have small effects like renormalizing the critical value of α , as is known to occur in classical reaction models [74,75]). For d < 3, quartic and other higher-order vertices may become relevant but the cubic vertices will remain the most relevant interactions. However the ϵ expansion will become uncontrolled and perturbative RG will no longer provide a reliable estimate of the critical exponents. Despite this, just as in classical directed percolation the phase transition should be expected to persist in low dimensions. Before addressing the full model, we first consider several specific limiting cases.

4.1 Extinction of Schrödinger cats in zero dimensions

As a warm up, we first consider the Schrödinger cat dynamics in zero spatial dimensions. This is described by the dissipative quantum mechanics of a single bosonic mode. For generic parameter values there are no symmetries and so the dark state with zero population is the unique stationary state. The inclusion of higher order processes may destabilize the dynamics and lead to the uncontrolled growth of population. Much like in classical population dynamics, in zero dimensions these are generically the only two possibilities: all populations eventually go extinct or diverge to infinity at long times.

To demonstrate this, we will study a simplified example with no Hamiltonian and only the cat process $\hat{L}_c \sim \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a} + \hat{a}$ and classical birth and death $A \rightarrow \emptyset$ and $A \rightarrow 2A$. This is equivalent to having real α , β_1 , β_2 , with $\beta_1 = \beta = \beta_2/2$, and $\beta_3 = 0$. The effective Hamiltonian is then:

$$K = \bar{\chi} \left(\alpha + \beta \phi + 2\beta \bar{\chi} \right) \phi + \text{c.c.}$$
(44)

We will examine the fate of initially small populations and focus on the regime of small β . To do so, consider the full equations of motion of the Keldysh semiclassical dynamics,

$$\partial_t \phi = \left(\alpha + \beta \phi + 4\beta \bar{\chi}\right) \phi , \qquad (45a)$$

$$\partial_t \bar{\chi} = -\bar{\chi} \left(\alpha + 2\beta \bar{\chi} + 2\beta \phi \right). \tag{45b}$$

The classical dynamics of ϕ is described by the motion in the $\chi = 0$ subspace. The nature of the dynamics depends on the sign of α . For $\alpha < 0$, $\phi = 0$ is a stable fixed point of the motion. There is an additional classical fixed point at $\phi = -\alpha/\beta$, but it is unstable. At sufficiently late times, populations decay exponentially with the rate set by α .

There is a bifurcation of the dynamics when $\alpha = 0$ caused by the merging of the two classical fixed points at $\phi = 0$. For $\alpha > 0$ the stability of the two fixed points flips: the origin becomes an unstable source and the $\phi = -\alpha/\beta$ fixed point becomes classically stable. Incorporating the effects of fluctuations generically shows this state to be only meta-stable. This is due to rare extinction events in which populations near the meta-stable value undergoes an activated transition to zero population. Activation is generally associated with instanton trajectories of the semiclassical motion that connect active fixed points to $\phi = 0$ along which the auxiliary field χ is finite. The result is a finite, though exponentially small, extinction time. This feature is shared by both classical and dissipative quantum systems.

The semiclassical dynamics of the cat processes is simple enough that such an activation trajectory can be identified. To achieve this, note that ϕ and χ , both real, define a two-dimensional invariant subspace of the motion. This subspace contains both of the classical



Figure 3: Real slice of the phase portrait of the Keldysh classical dynamics governed by Eq. (45) for $\alpha > 0$. The area of gray highlighted region is equal to the action, $S = \int \chi d\phi$, accrued along the activation trajectory and thus determines the asymptotic extinction time.

fixed points and an additional quantum fixed point with $\phi = 0$ and $\chi = -\alpha/2\beta$. There are three lines with K = 0 connecting these three fixed points, defined by the conditions $\phi = 0$, $\chi = 0$, and $\chi = -(\phi + \alpha/\beta)/2$. The phase portrait thus obtains a triangular topology, as depicted in Fig. 3. This situation directly parallels minimal classical population models [65, 76], the difference being that in the present context the nonlinearity comes from the cat process instead of higher-order classical population processes. The activation trajectory goes diagonally from the active fixed point, $\phi = -\alpha/\beta$, $\chi = 0$, to the quantum fixed point, $\phi = 0$, $\chi = -\alpha/2\beta$ and then to the dark state, $\phi = 0 = \chi$, along the χ axis. The action accumulated along this trajectory is $S = \alpha^2/4\beta^2$. A saddle point approximation thus predicts a long extinction time $\propto \exp(\alpha^2/4\beta^2)$, which holds in the limit of weak nonlinearity $\beta < \alpha$.

4.2 Complex Reggeon theory

We now consider the previous example in the full finite-dimensional setting. In terms of microscopic reaction rules (see Appendix A), $\beta_3 = 0$ when there are no cubic terms in the Hamiltonian and the only incoherent processes are cat processes $\hat{L}_c \sim \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a} + \hat{a}$ and classical birth and death $A \rightarrow \emptyset$ and $A \rightarrow 2A$. With $\beta_3 = 0$ the theory has a complex version of the Reggeon inversion symmetry, Eq. (28), displayed by the classical population dynamics,

$$\phi(t,\mathbf{r}) \to \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1} \bar{\chi}(-t,\mathbf{r}), \qquad \bar{\chi}(t,\mathbf{r}) \to \frac{\beta_1}{\beta_2} \phi(-t,\mathbf{r}).$$
(46)

A finite value for β_3 breaks this symmetry, and so a β_3 term is not generated by RG, if it is not present microscopically.

The fluctuationless equation of motion is:

$$(\partial_t - D\partial_r^2)\phi = (\alpha + \beta_1 \phi)\phi.$$
(47)

The two stationary homogeneous solutions are zero and $\phi = -\alpha/\beta_1$. The stability of both of these solutions depends on the real part of the complex mass, α . For Re(α) < 0 the $\phi = 0$ is a stable spiral sink and the ϕ fixed point is an unstable spiral source. This is a dark phase, in which the extinct state is dynamically stable and the stationary state population is zero. The situation is reversed for Re(α) > 0. Now, the $\phi = 0$ fixed point becomes unstable and the ϕ



Figure 4: Plots of various trajectories of the mean-field dynamics of Eq. (47) demonstrating the stability of the fixed points for different dynamical regimes. In all plots, the horizontal and vertical axes correspond to the real and imaginary parts of ϕ and the white and black points show the dark and active fixed points, correspondingly. All plots are made with $|\alpha| = 2$ and $\beta_1 = 1$. The leftmost plot shows the dead phase with $\arg(\phi) = 3\pi/4$. The second to the left shows the critical state, $\alpha = 0$. The second from the right shows two limit cycles, with $\arg(\alpha) = \pi/2$. The rightmost shows the active phase with $\arg(\alpha) = \pi/4$.

fixed point becomes stable, thus defining an active phase with a finite stationary population $\langle n \rangle = \bar{\alpha} \alpha / 2 \bar{\beta}_1 \beta_1$. Fig. 4 shows the mean-field dynamics in the complex ϕ -plane for both phases.

The stability of the two solutions changes discontinuously when the $\text{Re}(\alpha)$ changes sign at a finite $\text{Im}(\alpha)$. Putting $\text{Re}(\alpha) = 0$ with finite $\text{Im}(\alpha)$ results in a limit cycle and the $\phi = 0$ fixed point becomes purely oscillatory. This leads to a jump in the the stationary state population as the real α axis is crossed, thus indicating a first order transition between the active and dark phases. A continuous transition requires the simultaneous vanishing of both components of the complex mass, α . At the mean-field level, this corresponds to coalescing of the two fixed points at $\phi = 0$ into a single double-degenerate fixed point (Fig. 4 second panel). A mean field phase diagram is shown in the first panel of Fig. 5; while fluctuations may renormalize the value of the critical value of α this picture is expected to hold qualitatively.

The nature of the critical fluctuations turns out to be reminiscent of those in the classical directed percolation universality class. Despite this, there are key differences between the classical and quantum models. This can be appreciated even on the mean-field level. As an example, from the above discussion one finds the population as a function of the classical death rate near critical point scales at $\langle n \rangle \sim |\alpha|^2$. This contrasts with the classical population dynamics where $\langle n \rangle \sim |\alpha|^1$ at the mean-field level, see Eq. (29). Similarly, at the critical point, $\alpha = 0$, the mean-field predicts long time behavior of the population density $\langle n(t) \rangle \sim 1/t^2$, as opposed to 1/t behavior in the classical models. The difference is due to the different symmetry class of the complex Reggeon theory, which may be traced back to the breaking of the local weak U(1) symmetry by quantum reaction rules.

We investigate the nature of the critical fluctuations in detail using a standard perturbative RG approach [77, 78]. This is achieved by means of an ϵ -expansion around the critical dimension d_c , for which we find $d_c = 4$. The results of this calculation are summarized here and details of the calculation are discussed in Appendix B. The coefficient Z will be used for the kinetic term $\bar{\chi} \partial_t \phi$, which has a bare value of Z = 1. To lowest order in loops there is a single diagram that contributes to each parameter in the action; they are depicted in Fig. 6.

Sci Post



Figure 5: Phase diagrams for the mean-field dynamics of the quantum population dynamics. The first panel shows the complex Regge theory, in which $\beta_3 = 0$. The middle panel shows $0 < |\beta_3| < |\beta_1|$ (in particular, $|\beta_3| = |\beta_1|/2$ and $\arg(\beta_3) + \arg(\beta_1) = 3\pi/8$ is shown); the right panel shows $|\beta_3| > |\beta_1|$. In all panels, phase I (colored in blue) is the dark phase and phase II (colored in red) is the active phase. The dark circle denotes the origin; a continuous transition is obtained only by crossing this point. On dashed lines the non-zero fixed point ϕ is a limit cycle; crossing the these lines results in a first order transition in which $\overline{\langle \phi \rangle}$ changes discontinuously. In the middle panel, phases Ia and IIa label the values of α for which the fixed points are both sinks/sources resp.



Figure 6: 1-loop diagrams contributing to the renormalization of the propagator and the two vertices β_1 and β_2 . As, roughly speaking, in/outgoing arrows correspond to annihilation and creation of particles, each diagram can be thought of intuitively as a sequence of branching and recombination processes. Such sequences occur on either side of the density matrix independently and thus produce superpositions of different particle numbers.

They result in the ten RG flow equations:

$$\partial_l Z = \left(d + \Delta_\phi + \bar{\Delta}_\chi + \frac{C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{2ZD^2}\right) Z, \quad \partial_l D = \left(d + z - 2 + \Delta_\phi + \bar{\Delta}_\chi + \frac{C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{4ZD^2}\right) D, \quad (48a)$$

$$\partial_l \alpha = \left(d + \mathbf{z} + \mathbf{\Delta}_{\phi} + \bar{\mathbf{\Delta}}_{\chi} + \frac{C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{ZD^2} \right) \alpha \,, \tag{48b}$$

$$\partial_l \beta_1 = \left(d + \mathbf{z} + 2\mathbf{\Delta}_{\phi} + \bar{\mathbf{\Delta}}_{\chi} + \frac{2C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{ZD^2} \right) \beta_1, \quad \partial_l \beta_2 = \left(d + \mathbf{z} + \mathbf{\Delta}_{\phi} + 2\bar{\mathbf{\Delta}}_{\chi} + \frac{2C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{ZD^2} \right) \beta_2, \quad (48c)$$

and their complex conjugates, where l is the flowing scale and C_d is a real constant that depends on the both the UV cutoff and the spatial dimension (see Appendix B). These are very similar to 1-loop flow equations for standard real Regge field theory [46, 49, 52], but have several important differences which we subsequently discuss.

To identify a fixed point, it is convenient to first observe that four of the above equations can be wrapped up into a single, self-contained flow equation for the parameter $U = \beta_1 \beta_2 / ZD^2$,

$$\partial_l U = (\epsilon + 3C_d U)U, \tag{49}$$

with $\epsilon = 4 - d$. One thus observes a non-trivial fixed point with $U^* = -\epsilon/3C_d$ and $\alpha^* = 0$. Feeding this back into Eq. (48), one finds $\Delta_{\phi} = -2 + 7\epsilon/12 = -d/2 + \epsilon/12$, $\Delta_{\chi} = \Delta_{\phi}$ (which is anyways demanded by the Reggeon inversion symmetry), and $z = 2 - \epsilon/12$. The values of *Z*, *D*, and $\beta_{1,2}$ are not uniquely specified by this procedure, thus leading to the conclusion that there is in fact a critical *surface* of complex dimension 2: the ratio β_1/β_2 is fixed prima facie and does not flow under RG because of its participation in Eq. (46) and the condition $U = U^*$ fixes only one of the remaining three couplings.

All points on this critical surface turn out to be stable in the direction of the nonlinear couplings and unstable in the α direction (see Appendix C). The critical scaling is the same on the entire surface, with the critical exponents,

$$z = 2 - \frac{\epsilon}{12}, \qquad v = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\epsilon}{16}, \qquad a = 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{4}, \qquad \beta = 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{6}, \tag{50}$$

which match the directed percolation exponents from Eq. (29) up to the one-loop level. For details on how the exponents are obtained, see Appendix D.

Note however that in the present context the order parameter exponents $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ and $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ are defined by the critical scaling of ϕ and not the population number, with $\langle \phi \rangle \sim t^{-\alpha}$ and $\langle \phi \rangle \sim |\alpha|^{\beta}$. The critical scaling of the population number in the quantum model defines a new exponent, owing to the fact that $n = \bar{\phi} \phi/2$ is a composite operator in the RG sense in the quantum theory. Thus, we introduce the exponents $\langle n \rangle \sim |\alpha|^{\beta_2}$ and $\langle n(t) \rangle \sim t^{-\alpha_2}$. At order ϵ , one finds (see Appendix D),

$$\boldsymbol{a}_2 = 2 - \frac{\epsilon}{2}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\beta}_2 = 2 - \frac{\epsilon}{3}.$$
 (51)

Note that while here it happens that $a_2 = 2a$ and $\beta_2 = 2\beta$ at leading order in ϵ , this is not generically true and is not expected to hold at higher orders in ϵ . Comparing to Eq. (29), this result demonstrates a marked difference between the Schrödinger cat population dynamics and that of classical directed percolation.

To conclude this section, we observe a peculiarity of the RG flow equations Eq. (48). One may note that the parameter subspace in which all couplings are real is invariant. This occurs when there is no Hamiltonian (see Appendix A), which implies that Hamiltonian terms are never generated under RG if they are not already present microscopically. This turns out to have significant consequences for the fate of nonlinear couplings β_1 , β_2 at large scales. Examining the microscopic form of the couplings (discussed in Appendix A), the bare values of $\beta_1\beta_2$ is real, Z(l = 0) = 1, and D(l = 0) may take different complex values but Re(D) > 0 always. Thus, the imaginary component of U(l = 0) comes entirely from D(l = 0); if D(l = 0) is real then U(l = 0) is real. Examining the solutions to Eq. (49),

$$U(l) = \frac{U(0)e^{l\epsilon}}{1 + \frac{3C_d}{\epsilon} \left(1 - e^{\epsilon l}\right)U(0)},\tag{52}$$

one sees that if U(0) has a finite imaginary part then $U(l \to \infty) = U^*$, but if U(0) is real then U diverges to positive infinity as $l \to \infty$. Thus, if D(l = 0) is strictly real there is a pole in the RG flow equation and the U^* fixed point is inaccessible and the theory instead flows to strong coupling.



Figure 7: Plots of various trajectories of the mean-field dynamics of Eq. (42) demonstrating the stability of the fixed points for different dynamical regimes. In all plots, the horizontal and vertical axes correspond to the real and imaginary parts of ϕ and the white and black points show the dark and active fixed points. All plots are made with $|\alpha| = 2$ and $\beta_1 = 1$. The left two plots show the double sink and double source regimes as defined by Eq. (53). They have $\arg(\alpha) = 5\pi/8$ and $3\pi/8$ and $\beta_3 = \mp i/2$ respectively. The right two plots show the regime with $|\beta_3| > |\beta_1|$ in which the active fixed point is a saddle. They have $\arg(\alpha) = 3\pi/4$ and $\pi/4$ respectively and $\beta_3 = 2$.

4.3 Critical scaling for general couplings

We now consider the fully generic model with finite β_3 . Microscopically, this additional term arises from cat-like superpositions of the competition and death processes, e.g. $\hat{L} \sim \hat{a}^2 + \hat{a}$, and cubic Hamiltonian terms. For $\beta_3 \neq 0$ the Reggeon symmetry, Eq. (46) is broken, but it is nevertheless possible to have a continuous transition with a critical behavior distinct from that of the complex Reggeon theory. Before discussing this, we first note that the existence of a continuous transition depends on the value of β_3 , and for certain values of β_3 the transition can instead become the first order.

The mean-field dynamics, described by the spatially homogeneous version of Eq. (42), has three different dynamical regimes. The first two occur for $|\beta_3| < |\beta_1|$. For most values of β_3 , the mean-field dynamics have the same behavior as the complex Regge theory: the origin is a source/sink and the active fixed point is a sink/source for Re(α) ≥ 0 . For large values of Im(α) there is a bifurcation for certain values of $\beta_{1,3}$, the exact conditions for which are:

$$|\beta_1|\cos(\arg(\alpha)) \ge |\beta_3|\cos(\arg(\alpha) - \arg(\beta_1) - \arg(\beta_3)), \quad \operatorname{Re}(\alpha) \le 0.$$
(53)

When this condition is satisfied, the stability of the active fixed point reverses and the dynamics has either two sources or two sinks depending on the sign of α . Bringing $|\beta_3|$ equal to $|\beta_1|$ sends the active fixed point to infinity. When $|\beta_3| > |\beta_1|$ the active fixed point becomes again finite, but it is always a saddle. The two new dynamical regimes are depicted in Fig. 7; the right two panels of Fig. 5 shows mean field phase diagrams for β_3 finite for both $|\beta_1| \leq 0|\beta_3|$.

Only the first of these these three situations results in a continuous transition. In either of the other two regimes, the active fixed point is dynamically unstable in the active phase, meaning the population diverges to infinity (or to some large but finite value if higher-order nonlinear terms are included to stabilize the theory; in this situation quartic terms can be understood as dangerously irrelevant). Thus, in crossing from the dark to active phase, the stationary population changes discontinuously and the transition is first order.

When a continuous transition is possible, there are no modifications to the flow equations of any of the couplings shown in Eq. (48) at leading order. The only addition is the RG flow equation for β_3 , for which there are three diagrams that contribute (shown in Fig. 8. The flow equation is:

$$\partial_l \beta_3 = \left(d + \mathbf{z} + \mathbf{\Delta}_{\phi} + \bar{\mathbf{\Delta}}_{\phi} + \bar{\mathbf{\Delta}}_{\chi} + \frac{C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{ZD^2} + \frac{C_d}{\bar{Z}D + Z\bar{D}} \left(\frac{\bar{\beta}_2 \beta_3}{\bar{D}} + \frac{\bar{\beta}_3 \beta_2}{D} \right) \right) \beta_3.$$
(54)



Figure 8: 1-loop diagrams contributing to the renormalization of β_3 .

The critical surface of the complex Reggeon theory is identified as above using Eq. (49) $U^* = -\epsilon/3C_d$ and $\alpha^* = \beta_3^* = 0$. However, linearizing Eq. (54) around any fixed point on this surface gives $\partial_l \beta_3 \simeq \epsilon \beta_3/3$. Thus the entire complex Reggeon critical surface is unstable to a β_3 perturbation for $\epsilon > 0$ and so a nonzero bare β_3 carries one away from the complex Reggeon theory towards a new fixed point with a finite β_3^* .

A new set of fixed points with finite β_3^* is conveniently identified by writing the flow equations for the parameter $W = \bar{\beta}_2 \beta_3 / \bar{D} (\bar{Z}D + Z\bar{D})$,

$$\partial_l W = \left(\epsilon + C_d (2U + W + \bar{W})\right) W.$$
(55)

Together with Eq. (49) and their complex conjugates, these constitute a closed set of four RG flow equations. A new fixed point is found by putting $U^* = -\epsilon/3C_d = W^* + \overline{W}^*$. Only three values of the 10 couplings $Z, D, \beta_{1,2,3}$ and their complex conjugates are fixed by this condition. There is critical surface of real dimension seven. A linear stability analysis shows that the critical surface is stable in all three directions point away in the space of the $Z, D, \beta_{1,2,3}$ and their complex conjugates (see Appendix C). Note however that similar to the complex Reggeon theory, for some regions of bare values of U and W (the conditions for which are discussed in Appendix A) the critical surface is inaccessible and the theory flows to a strong coupling.

The field scaling dimensions, $\Delta_{\phi,\chi}$, and the dynamical critical exponent z may be obtained in the same way as discussed for the complex Reggeon theory and their values are the same as there. Because there is no modification to the RG equation for α from the inclusion of a finite β_3 , the standard critical exponents are also unmodified. Equation (50) still holds, despite being at a different critical point. There are however modifications to the exponents governing the scaling of *n* compared to Eq. (51). For finite β_3 , one instead finds:

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_2 = 2 - \frac{\epsilon}{6}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\beta}_2 = 2 - \frac{\epsilon}{6}. \tag{56}$$

A derivation is presented in Appendix D. Note that, unlike the complex Reggeon theory, $a_2 \neq 2a$ and $\beta_2 \neq 2\beta$ already in linear order in ϵ .

5 Discussion and conclusion

In this work, we established an exact correspondence between classical population dynamics and Lindbladians with the weak local U(1) symmetry and the dark extinct state. This correspondence lead naturally to quantum generalizations of population dynamics in which this symmetry is not respected and the state of a system may consist of coherent superpositions of different population numbers. We also developed a field theory approach to studying quantum population models, which has a general utility for field theories with dark states. This method was applied to study a generic quantum population model of a single species, which possesses a mix of classical birth and death processes and quantum Schrödinger cat population processes, which take the population number into a coherent superposition of different numbers. We found that this theory possesses a non-equilibrium dark state phase transition between a dark extinct phase and an active phase with a stable quantum population. From the perspective, where quantumness originates from the local symmetry breaking (and thus is a relevant perturbation), it is natural to expect that quantum population models belong to universality classes different from those of their classical counterparts. This is indeed what we found here for the model with no other constraints beyond supporting the dark state.

We note that this result differs from the several existing results on dark state phase transitions in models featuring mixtures of classical and quantum population processes [20,21,25]. In these works, a phase transition was identified as belonging to the classical tri-critical directed percolation universality class. This is however not in contradiction with our result. The bosonic theory studied in [25] has a global weak U(1) symmetry and so falls into a different universality class than our Schrödinger cat population dynamics, which lacks such a symmetry.

Going forward, it may be interesting to more thoroughly study the dynamics of the Schrödinger cat field theory. Classical population dynamics typically demonstrate ballistic spreading of populations despite being diffusive at the linear level. This is due to nonlinear front solutions of the FKPP-like equations [72, 73] describing the semiclassical dynamics of classical populations. The semiclassical dynamics of the Schrödinger cat theory Eqs. (47) and (42) are essentially complexified FKPP equations, and so likely support qualitatively similar nonlinear wave solutions. The existence of such solutions would have the largest effect on dynamics in low spatial dimensions, and could lead to modifications of, for example, extinction times.

The approach developed here could be used to various other quantum population models. In classical population and reaction models, the addition of symmetries or additional dynamical constraints lead to a variety of different universality classes [68, 79–81], which may be classified according to the topology of their semiclassical phase portrait [50]. A similar classification scheme may be possible in the quantum setting, though it would require the inclusion of additional classes based on dynamic constraints that are distinctly quantum, as exemplified at the end of Section 2.

It may also be interesting to examine quantum population models with multiple species, such as quantum versions of predator-prey or rock-paper-scissors dynamics. Generic absorbing state transitions in classical population models with multiple species are thought to belong to the same directed percolation universality class as the single species Reggeon theory, but may they may develop critical behavior different from directed percolation at multi-critical points [82–84]. It seems plausible that a similar situations may occurs for multi-species quantum population and quantum reaction models and is worth further exploration in future work. In a more general context, the Reggeon field theory and the above Schrödinger cat field theory represent generic theories obeying absorbing state constraints (Eq.s (26) and (27) and Eq.s (39) and (40) resp.) with a single (real resp. complex) scalar degree of freedom. More general models with vector or matrix valued fields obeying similar absorbing state conditions have, to our knowledge, not been thoroughly studied and may present interesting new classes of field theories with potentially new critical behavior and dynamics. In particular, it may be interesting to see if such models admit simplified descriptions in the limit of large numbers of degrees of freedom, as is known to occur in certain families of classical reaction-diffusion models [79].

As noted in the main text, there is a formal similarity between the dark state condition, Eq. (35), and the equilibrium FDT, which similarly imposes a fixed relation between Keldysh and spectral components of the Green's function. The equilibrium FDT condition, and the other relations between *n*-point functions that must hold in equilibrium as consequence of

KMS, can be cast in the form of a symmetry of the Keldysh action [85]. It is possible that a similar symmetry description underpins relations between *n*-point functions in theories with the dark states. If such a description does exist, this could lead to a new way to use symmetry to classify non-equilibrium theories with absorbing/dark states. Somewhat similar ideas were recently put forward for both classical [86] and quantum [87, 88] non-equilibrium theories which involve generalized concepts of detailed balance. Dark state models represent the opposite extreme, in which detailed balance is maximally violated.

Finally, it would be interesting to further explore what utility quantum reaction models may have as protocols for preparing and protecting entangled quantum states. Keeping in mind existing proposals to realize certain quantum states with dissipation make use of either dynamics with dark spaces [34–36] or classical reaction models [38,39], quantum population dynamics language would seem to be a natural language with which look for for generalizations of or improvements to existing proposals. More generally, the relationship between dark state field theories (and the phase transitions they may posses) and the entanglement properties of the dark space would be an interesting direction for future study.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful for useful discussions with Sebastian Diehl, Mark Dykman, and Yuval Gefen.

Funding information This work was supported by the NSF grant DMR-2338819.

A Microscopic parameters

In this appendix, we consider the microscopic origin of the terms in the Schrödinger cat population dynamics. The general form of jump operators representing quantum population processes is $\hat{L}_{\nu} = \hat{O}_{\nu}\hat{a}$ where \hat{O}_{ν} can be any operator. Up to second order in Bose operators, generic jump operators have the form:

$$\hat{L}_{\nu} = (l_{1\nu}\hat{a} + l_{2\nu}\hat{a}^{\dagger} + l_{3\nu})\hat{a} + \dots$$
(A.1)

Each such jump operator corresponds to a superposition of up to three reaction rules: the two classical rules $A \rightarrow \emptyset$ and $2A \rightarrow \emptyset$, and the quantum process $\hat{L} = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$ that does not encode any classical reaction process. One can also add a Hamiltonian, which has the general form up to the fourth order in Bose operators:

$$\hat{H} = h_2 \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \hat{a}^{\dagger} (\bar{g}_3 \hat{a}^{\dagger} + g_3 \hat{a}) \hat{a} + \hat{a}^{\dagger} (h_4 \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \bar{g}_4 \hat{a}^{\dagger 2} + g_4 \hat{a}^2) \hat{a} + \dots$$
(A.2)

Translating this to an action Eq. (38) results in a theory with the effective Hamiltonian of the form:

$$K = \bar{\chi}\phi(\alpha + \beta_1\phi + \beta_2\bar{\chi} + \beta_3\bar{\phi} + \eta_1\phi^2 + \eta_2\phi\bar{\chi} + \eta_3\bar{\chi}^2 + \eta_4\phi\bar{\phi} + \eta_5\bar{\chi}\bar{\phi} + \eta_6\bar{\phi}^2 + \zeta\bar{\phi}\chi) + \text{c.c.},$$
(A.3)

Sci Post

where the coefficients have the following relations to microscopic parameters:

$$\alpha = -ih_2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\nu} \bar{l}_{3\nu} l_{3\nu} , \qquad (A.4a)$$

$$\beta_1 = -\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}g_3 - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\sum_{\nu} (\bar{l}_{3\nu}l_{1\nu} + \bar{l}_{2\nu}l_{3\nu}), \qquad (A.4b)$$

$$\beta_2 = -i\sqrt{2}\bar{g}_3 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sum_{\nu} (\bar{l}_{3\nu}l_{2\nu} + \bar{l}_{1\nu}l_{3\nu}), \qquad (A.4c)$$

$$\beta_3 = -i\sqrt{2}\bar{g}_3 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sum_{\nu}\bar{l}_{1\nu}l_{3\nu}, \qquad (A.4d)$$

$$\eta_1 = -\frac{i}{2}g_4 - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\nu} \bar{l}_{2\nu}l_{1\nu}, \qquad (A.4e)$$

$$\eta_2 = -ih_4 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\nu} (\bar{l}_{1\nu} l_{1\nu} + \bar{l}_{2\nu} l_{2\nu}), \qquad (A.4f)$$

$$\eta_3 = -2i\bar{g}_4 - \sum_{\nu} \bar{l}_{1\nu} l_{2\nu} , \qquad (A.4g)$$

$$\eta_4 = -ih_4 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\nu} \bar{l}_{1\nu} l_{1\nu} , \qquad (A.4h)$$

$$\eta_5 = -3i\bar{g}_4 - \frac{3}{2}\sum_{\nu}\bar{l}_{1\nu}l_{2\nu}, \qquad (A.4i)$$

$$\eta_6 = -\frac{3i}{2}\bar{g}_4 - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\nu}\bar{l}_{1\nu}l_{2\nu}, \qquad (A.4j)$$

$$\zeta = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\nu} \bar{l}_{2\nu} l_{2\nu} \,, \tag{A.4k}$$

where the rate γ_{ν} of each jump operator \hat{L}_{ν} has for convenience been absorbed into the coefficients $l_{i\nu}$.

When extended to finite dimensions, there are two different types of quantum hopping terms at lowest order: coherent and incoherent. One involves an addition to the Hamiltonian and the other involves a new set of jump operators. These are most easily implemented on lattice using nearest-neighbor hopping,

$$\hat{H}_D = 2u \sum_{\mathbf{r},i} \left(\hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}+\mathbf{a}_i}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}} + \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{a}_i}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}} + \text{h.c.} \right), \tag{A.5a}$$

$$\hat{L}_{D,\mathbf{r},i,\pm} = \sqrt{2\nu} \left(\hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}\pm\mathbf{a}_i} - \hat{a}_{\mathbf{r}} \right), \tag{A.5b}$$

where \mathbf{a}_i are the lattice unit vectors. In the long-wavelength limit on a square lattice, these terms lead to the complex diffusion term in the action, $\bar{\chi} D \partial_{\mathbf{r}}^2 \phi + \text{c.c.}$, with the complex diffusion coefficient given by D = u + iv.

B Derivation of RG flow equations

This section discusses details of the perturbative RG calculations performed to arrive at Eq. (48). This is done using a standard ϵ -expansion approach. The details are very similar to those of the classical directed percolation RG, see, e.g., Ref. [52].

To begin, we impose a momentum cutoff $|\mathbf{k}| < \Lambda$, and subsequently rescale the spacetime coordinates and fields in the standard way:

$$\mathbf{r} \to b\mathbf{r}, \qquad t \to b^z t, \qquad \phi \to b^{\Delta_{\phi}} \phi, \qquad \chi \to b^{\Delta_{\chi}} \chi.$$
 (B.1)

The quantities Δ_{ϕ} and Δ_{χ} are the scaling dimensions of the classical and auxiliary fields, ϕ and χ , and z is the dynamical critical exponent. One may then split each field into a sum of slow and fast modes $\phi(\epsilon, \mathbf{k}) = \phi_s(\epsilon, \mathbf{k}) + \phi_f(\epsilon, \mathbf{k})$ where ϕ_s is supported for $|\mathbf{k}| < \Lambda$ and ϕ_f is supported for $\Lambda < |\mathbf{k}| < b\Lambda$. With this, the action can be expressed as $S = S_s + S_f + S_{s-f}$ where S_s, S_f consist of only the slow/fast fields resp. and S_{s-f} contains the nonlinear cross terms with both types of fields. To facilitate calculations, we introduce the coupling *Z* as the name of the coupling of the kinetic term $\bar{\chi} \partial_t \phi$, which always possesses the bare value Z = 1. With this, the bare Green's function acquires the form:

$$\mathcal{G}(p) = \frac{1}{-Zi\epsilon + Dk^2 - \alpha},$$
(B.2)

where $p = (\epsilon, \mathbf{k})$ is the d + 1-momentum.

Next, the fast fields are averaged over. The leading-order corrections to the propagator are given at the second order,

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle S_{\rm s-f}^2 \rangle_{\rm f} = \left\langle \int \beta_1 \bar{\chi}_{\rm s} \phi_{\rm f} \phi_{\rm f} \int \beta_2 \phi_{\rm s} \bar{\chi}_{\rm f} \bar{\chi}_{\rm f} \right\rangle_{\rm f}.$$
(B.3)

Performing the Gaussian averaging over the fast modes, one obtains the following modification to the action upon re-exponentiation,

$$S_{\rm s} \to S_{\rm s} - 2\beta_1\beta_2 \int \mathrm{d}p \,\bar{\chi}_{\rm s}(p)\phi_{\rm s}(p) \int \mathrm{d}p_{\rm f}\mathcal{G}(p_{\rm f}^+)\mathcal{G}(-p_{\rm f}^-)\,, \tag{B.4}$$

where \mathcal{G} is given by Eq. B.2 and $p_f^{\pm} = p_f \pm p/2$. This correction corresponds to the diagram for the propagator shown in the main text in Fig. 6. After integrating over ϵ_f and expanding to leading order in all couplings, the correction to the action is:

$$-\frac{\beta_1\beta_2}{Z}\int \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{f}}}{(2\pi)^d} \left(\frac{1}{D\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{f}}^2} - \left(\frac{D}{4}\mathbf{k}^2 - \frac{\mathrm{i}Z}{2}\epsilon - \alpha\right)\frac{1}{(D\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{f}}^2)^2} + \dots\right). \tag{B.5}$$

The first term renormalizes α and will subsequently be absorbed. The second term results in corrections to *Z*, *D*, and α . Performing the integral over \mathbf{k}_{f} , the entirety of the RG procedure results in the replacements:

$$Z \to \left(b^{d+\Delta_{\phi}+\tilde{\Delta}_{\chi}} + \frac{C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{2ZD^2(d-4)} (b^{d-4} - 1) \right) Z,$$
(B.6a)

$$D \to \left(b^{d+z-2+\Delta_{\phi}+\bar{\Delta}_{\chi}} + \frac{C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{4Z D^2 (d-4)} (b^{d-4} - 1) \right) D,$$
(B.6b)

$$\alpha \to \left(b^{d+z+\Delta_{\phi}+\bar{\Delta}_{\chi}} + \frac{C_d \beta_1 \beta_2}{ZD^2(d-4)} (b^{d-4} - 1) \right) \alpha, \qquad (B.6c)$$

with $C_d = \Lambda^{d-4} 2^{1-d} \pi^{-d/2} / \Gamma(d/2)$. Performing an infinitesimal scaling transformation by the replacement b = 1 + l and differentiating, one obtains the first three of Eqs. (48).

For corrections to the vertices, we focus on the corrections to β_1 ; the corrections to β_2 are given by swapping $\beta_1 \leftrightarrow \beta_2$ in all calculations. The leading order correction to β_1 comes at third order,

$$-\frac{1}{3!} \langle S_{s-f}^3 \rangle_f = 2 \left\langle \int \beta_1 \bar{\chi}_s \phi_f \phi_f \int \beta_1 \phi_s \bar{\chi}_f \phi_f \int \beta_2 \phi_s \bar{\chi}_f \bar{\chi}_f \right\rangle_f.$$
(B.7)

Averaging the fast modes gives a correction to the action:

$$S_{\rm s} \to S_{\rm s} - 8\beta_1^2\beta_2 \int dp_1 dp_2 dp_3 \,\bar{\chi}_{\rm s}(p_1)\phi_{\rm s}(p_2)\phi_{\rm s}(p_3)\delta(p_1 - p_2 - p_3) \int dp_f \mathcal{G}(p_f)\mathcal{G}(p_1 - p_f)\mathcal{G}(p_f - p_2),$$
(B.8)

Sci Post

where only the terms contributing to the renormalization of β_1 are written. The corresponding diagram is shown in Fig. 6 in the main text. All other 1-loop diagrams contributing the β_1 vanish by causality. Next, one may expand the resulting vertex function in the slow momenta, keeping only the part with zero momentum transfer $\mathcal{G}(p_f)\mathcal{G}(p_1-p_f)\mathcal{G}(p_f-p_2) \simeq \mathcal{G}(-p_f)\mathcal{G}(p_f)^2$. Subsequent integrating over p_f then gives the 1-loop correction to the vertices,

$$\beta_1 \to \left(b^{d+z+2\Delta_{\phi}+\bar{\Delta}_{\chi}} + \frac{2C_d\beta_1\beta_2}{ZD^2(d-4)} (b^{d-4} - 1) \right) \beta_1,$$
(B.9a)

$$\beta_2 \rightarrow \left(b^{d+\mathbf{z}+\Delta_{\phi}+2\bar{\Delta}_{\chi}} + \frac{2C_d\beta_1\beta_2}{ZD^2(d-4)}(b^{d-4}-1) \right) \beta_2, \tag{B.9b}$$

which upon differentiation after putting b = 1 + l reproduces the remaining two equations from Eq. (48). The form of these equations clearly indicates a critical dimensions of $d_c = 4$.

The inclusion of the β_3 in the fully general theory does not produce new 1-loop diagrams for any of the other couplings and thus dues not lead to any additional corrections at leading order. There are three different terms that contribute to the renormalization of β_3 itself, which originate from the third order terms in the action,

$$-\frac{1}{3!} \langle S_{s-f}^{3} \rangle_{f} = -\left\langle \int \beta_{1} \bar{\chi}_{s} \phi_{f} \phi_{f} \int \beta_{2} \phi_{s} \bar{\chi}_{f} \bar{\chi}_{f} \int \beta_{3} \bar{\phi}_{s} \bar{\chi}_{f} \phi_{f} \right\rangle_{f}$$

$$-\left\langle \int \beta_{3} \phi_{s} \bar{\chi}_{f} \bar{\phi}_{f} \int \beta_{3} \bar{\chi}_{s} \phi_{f} \bar{\phi}_{f} \int \bar{\beta}_{2} \bar{\phi}_{s} \chi_{f} \chi_{f} \right\rangle_{f} + \text{c.c.},$$
(B.10)

where only the terms contributing to the renormalization of β_3 are written.

After averaging over the fast modes the first term leads to a modification to the action:

$$4\beta_{1}\beta_{2}\beta_{3}\int dp_{1}dp_{2}dp_{3}\,\bar{\chi}_{s}(p_{1})\phi_{s}(p_{2})\bar{\phi}_{s}(p_{3})\delta(p_{1}-p_{2}-p_{3})\int dp_{f}\mathcal{G}(p_{f})\mathcal{G}(p_{1}-p_{f})\mathcal{G}(p_{2}-p_{f}).$$
(B.11)

Keeping only the part with zero momentum transfer, this leads to the same integral expression as appears in the renormalization for $\beta_{1,2}$ up to a factor of 1/2. The second term becomes after averaging:

$$2\bar{\beta}_{2}\beta_{3}^{2}\int dp_{1}dp_{2}dp_{3}\,\bar{\chi}_{s}(p_{1})\phi_{s}(p_{2})\bar{\phi}_{s}(p_{3})\delta(p_{1}-p_{2}+p_{3})\int dp_{f}\mathcal{G}(p_{f})\bar{\mathcal{G}}(p_{1}+p_{f})\bar{\mathcal{G}}(p_{2}-p_{f}).$$
(B.12)

The zero momentum part is $\mathcal{G}(p_f)\overline{\mathcal{G}}(p_1 + p_f)\overline{\mathcal{G}}(p_2 - p_f) \simeq \mathcal{G}(p_f)\overline{\mathcal{G}}(p_f)\overline{\mathcal{G}}(-p_f)$; integrating this term over p_f gives a factor of $C_d/2\overline{D}(\overline{D}Z + D\overline{Z})$. Taking all three terms together, this gives the the 1-loop correction to β_3 ,

$$\beta_3 \rightarrow \left(b^{d+z+\Delta_{\phi}+\bar{\Delta}_{\chi}+\Delta_{\bar{\phi}}} + \frac{C_d(b^{d-4}-1)}{Z(d-4)} \left(\frac{\beta_1\beta_2}{D^2} + \frac{\bar{\beta}_2\beta_3}{\bar{D}(\bar{D}Z+D\bar{Z})} + \frac{\beta_2\bar{\beta}_3}{D(\bar{D}Z+D\bar{Z})} \right) \right) \beta_3, \quad (B.13)$$

which upon differentiation after putting b = 1 + l reproduces Eq. (54).

C Stability of the critical surface

Linearizing the RG flow equations (48) around any given fixed point on the critical surface determines its stability. To this end, for each coupling g we put $g(l) = g^* + \delta_g(l)$ and expand to leading order in each δ_g . This may be performed for a general point on the critical surface

Sci Post

 $\alpha^* = 0$ and $(Z^*, D^*, \beta_1^*, \beta_2^*)$ with $U^* = \beta_1^* \beta_2^* / Z^* D^{*2} = -\epsilon / 3C_d$ and β_2 / β_1 fixed by the Regge symmetry. The linearized RG equations are then:

$$\partial_l \alpha \simeq \left(2 - \frac{\epsilon}{4}\right) \alpha,$$
 (C.1a)

$$\partial_l \delta_Z \simeq \frac{\epsilon}{6} \delta_Z + \frac{\epsilon Z^*}{3D^*} \delta_D - \frac{\epsilon Z^*}{6\beta_1^*} \delta_{\beta_1} - \frac{\epsilon Z^*}{6\beta_2^*} \delta_{\beta_2}, \qquad (C.1b)$$

$$\partial_l \delta_D \simeq \frac{\epsilon D^*}{12Z^*} \delta_Z + \frac{\epsilon}{6} \delta_D - \frac{\epsilon D^*}{12\beta_1^*} \delta_{\beta_1} - \frac{\epsilon D^*}{12\beta_2^*} \delta_{\beta_2}, \qquad (C.1c)$$

$$\partial_l \delta_{\beta_1} \simeq \frac{2\epsilon \beta_1^{\star}}{3Z^{\star}} \delta_Z + \frac{4\epsilon \beta_1^{\star}}{3D^{\star}} \delta_D - \frac{2\epsilon}{3} \delta_{\beta_1} - \frac{2\epsilon \beta_1^{\star}}{3\beta_2^{\star}} \delta_{\beta_2}, \qquad (C.1d)$$

$$\partial_l \delta_{\beta_2} \simeq \frac{2\epsilon \beta_2^{\star}}{3Z^{\star}} \delta_Z + \frac{4\epsilon \beta_2^{\star}}{3D^{\star}} \delta_D - \frac{2\epsilon \beta_2^{\star}}{3\beta_1^{\star}} \delta_{\beta_1} - \frac{2\epsilon}{3} \delta_{\beta_2}, \qquad (C.1e)$$

and their complex conjugates. The critical surface is unstable in the direction of the complex mass α , which is independent of the other couplings at the linear level. Upon diagonalizing the coupling matrix of the latter four equations, one finds a single non-zero irrelevant eigenvalue $-\epsilon$ regardless of the values of the (Z^* , D^* , β_1^* , β_2^*). The other three eigenvalues are zero (i.e. marginal) and their eigenvectors correspond to motion parallel to the critical surface, or to different values of β_2/β_1 ratio.

For finite β_3 , one must also include Eq. (54). Its linearization around the fixed point with non-zero β_3^* yields:

$$\partial_{l}\delta_{\beta_{3}} \simeq \left(\frac{\epsilon}{3Z^{\star}} + \frac{\epsilon\bar{D}^{\star 2}W^{\star}}{3\bar{\beta}_{2}^{\star}\beta_{3}^{\star}}\right)\delta_{Z} + \left(\frac{2\epsilon - 3C_{d}\bar{W}^{\star}}{3\bar{D}^{\star}} + \frac{\epsilon\bar{Z}^{\star}\bar{D}^{\star}W^{\star}}{\bar{\beta}_{2}^{\star}\beta_{3}^{\star}}\right)\delta_{D} - \frac{\epsilon}{3\beta_{1}^{\star}}\delta_{\beta_{1}} - \frac{\epsilon - 3C_{d}\bar{W}^{\star}}{3\beta_{2}^{\star}}\delta_{\beta_{2}} \\ - \frac{\epsilon - 3C_{d}W^{\star}}{3\beta_{3}^{\star}}\delta_{\beta_{3}} + \frac{\epsilon\bar{D}^{\star 2}\bar{W}^{\star}}{3\beta_{2}^{\star}\bar{\beta}_{3}^{\star}}\bar{\delta}_{Z} + \left(\frac{\epsilon\bar{Z}^{\star}D^{\star}\bar{W}^{\star}}{3\beta_{2}^{\star}\bar{\beta}_{3}^{\star}} - \frac{C_{d}W^{\star}}{\bar{D}^{\star}}\right)\bar{\delta}_{D} + \frac{C_{d}W^{\star}}{\bar{\beta}_{2}^{\star}}\bar{\delta}_{\beta_{2}} + \frac{C_{d}\bar{W}^{\star}}{\bar{\beta}_{3}^{\star}}\bar{\delta}_{\beta_{3}}.$$
(C.2)

Diagonalizing the 10-dimensional coupling matrix resulting from this equation and its complex conjugate together with Eq. (C.1) gives three nonzero eigenvalues. The values of these eigenvalues is the same for all values on the critical surface. Two of these have the value $-\epsilon$ and correspond to the perturbations away from the critical surface in the direction of U and \overline{U} . The third has the value $-\epsilon/3$ and it involves perturbations away from the critical surface in a direction with finite β_3 . The other seven eigenvalues are all zero and correspond to perturbations in directions parallel to critical surface. This demonstrates stability of the critical manifold to linear order in ϵ .

D Critical exponents

The values of the dynamical critical exponent z and the field scaling dimensions Δ_{ϕ} and Δ_{χ} are obtained in the main text. The inverse of the correlation length exponent v is equal to the critical scaling of the linear death rate, $[\alpha] = 1/v$. Here $[\alpha]$ denotes the scaling of α under the RG transformation, $\alpha \to b^{[\alpha]}\alpha$. This may be obtained from the linearized flow of α near the critical point, $\partial_l \alpha \simeq \alpha/v$. Examining Eq. (C.1) one finds $1/v = 2 - \epsilon/4$, from which follows the value of v in Eq. (50). The remaining two exponents α and β are obtained from scaling relations using v and Δ_{ϕ} . The first is defined as the long-time scaling of the order parameter ϕ at the critical point as a function of time, $\langle \phi(t) \rangle \sim t^{-\alpha}$; the other is defined as the scaling of the stationary value of ϕ near the critical point as a function of time, $\langle \phi(x) \rangle \sim t^{-\alpha}$; the other is defined as the scaling of the scaling of the scaling of the critical point, measured using the complex mass, $\langle \phi \rangle \sim |\alpha|^{\beta}$. Performing the RG rescaling from Eq. (B.1) on



Figure 9: Diagrammatic depiction of auxiliary vertex and the three diagrams contributing to the renormalization of the auxiliary coupling λ .

either side of both expressions and keeping in mind that the scaling of α is set by ν near the critical point, one finds the relations:

$$\boldsymbol{a} = -\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{\phi}/\boldsymbol{z}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\beta} = -\boldsymbol{\nu}\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{\phi}.$$
 (D.1)

Using the values obtained in the main text $\Delta_{\phi} = -2 + 7\epsilon/12 = \Delta_{\chi}$ and $z = 2 - \epsilon/12$, the above relations reproduce the remaining two exponents in Eq. (50).

To determine the critical points associated with the population $n \sim \phi \phi$ from Eq. (51) we use the fact that under the RG transformation one has $n \to b^{\Delta_{\bar{\phi}\phi}} n$, where $\Delta_{\bar{\phi}\phi}$ is the scaling dimension of the composite operator n. Defining the critical scaling of n analogous to those of ϕ discussed above, $\langle n(t) \rangle \sim t^{-\alpha_2}$ and $\langle n \rangle \sim |\alpha|^{\beta_2}$, one has by a similar argument the scaling relations:

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_2 = -\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{\bar{\phi}\phi}/\boldsymbol{z}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\beta}_2 = -\boldsymbol{\nu}\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{\bar{\phi}\phi}. \tag{D.2}$$

Thus the task of determining a_2 and β_2 reduces to determining the scaling dimension of $\overline{\phi}\phi$.

Because the fixed point is non-Gaussian, one should generically expect $\Delta_{\bar{\phi}\phi} \neq \bar{\Delta}_{\phi} + \Delta_{\phi}$. To determine the scaling dimension, one may introduce an additional coupling associated with $\bar{\phi}\phi$ [78],

$$S \to S + \int \mathrm{d}x \lambda \bar{\phi} \phi$$
 (D.3)

The scaling of the new coupling $[\lambda]$ can be related to the scaling dimension of the corresponding operator by recalling that the action should remain invariant under RG,

$$\Delta_{\bar{\phi}\phi} = [\lambda] - d - z. \tag{D.4}$$

The inclusion of this new coupling modifies the RG flow equations, from which $[\lambda]$ can be deduced by linearizing around the modified critical point.

The inclusion of this new coupling can be thought of as an anomalous two-point vertex. This modifies the linear theory by breaking the dark state condition and giving a finite value to the anomalous Green's function $\langle \chi \bar{\chi} \rangle$, for which we will use the symbol \mathcal{F} . At the linear level, one has:

$$\mathcal{F}(p) = -\lambda \bar{\mathcal{G}}(p) \mathcal{G}(p). \tag{D.5}$$

This addition causes a change to the diagrammatic rules and leads to a single new nonvanishing 1-loop diagram, as depicted in Fig. 9. This diagram renormalizes λ . Even before any calculation however, one may observe that this diagram contains two copies of the auxiliary vertex and thus two powers of λ . As a consequence, the only correction to λ will occur at second order in λ thus leading to the RG flow equation with the schematic form,

$$\partial_l \lambda = \left(d + z + \Delta_\phi + \bar{\Delta}_\phi \right) \lambda + O(\lambda^2). \tag{D.6}$$

When linearizing around a point on the $\lambda^* = 0$ critical surface, the second order terms will not contribute and thus there is no modification to the bare scaling. One thus finds $\partial_l \lambda \simeq (2 + \epsilon/12)\lambda$ and therefore $[\lambda] = 2 + \epsilon/12$, which along with Eq.s (D.2) and (D.4) reproduces Eq. (51).

The inclusion of finite β_3 leads to two more diagrams, both of which are only first order in λ , Fig. 9, and thus do contribute to the linearized flow near the critical surface. These contributions are obtained at second order in the action,

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle S_{\rm s-f}^2 \rangle_{\rm f} = 2 \left\langle \int \bar{\beta}_3 \bar{\phi}_s \phi_{\rm f} \chi_{\rm f} \int \beta_2 \phi_s \bar{\chi}_{\rm f} \bar{\chi}_{\rm f} \right\rangle_{\rm f} + {\rm c.c.}, \qquad (D.7)$$

where only the terms contributing to the linearized flow of λ are written. The first term leads to the modification to the action of the form

$$-4\bar{\beta}_{3}\beta_{2}\int \mathrm{d}p\,\bar{\phi}_{s}(p)\phi_{s}(p)\int \mathrm{d}p_{f}\mathcal{G}(p_{f}^{+})\mathcal{F}(-p_{f}^{-})\,,\tag{D.8}$$

where $p_{\rm f}^{\pm} = p_{\rm f} \pm p/2$. Integrating over $p_{\rm f}$ and keeping only the part with zero momentum transfer and performing the same calculation for the conjugated diagram, one finds the RG flow equation for the auxiliary coupling:

$$\partial_l \lambda = \left(d + z + \Delta_\phi + \bar{\Delta}_\phi - \frac{2C_d}{\bar{Z}D + Z\bar{D}} \left(\frac{\bar{\beta}_2 \beta_3}{\bar{D}} + \frac{\bar{\beta}_3 \beta_2}{D} \right) \right) \lambda \,. \tag{D.9}$$

Linearization around a point on the finite β_3 critical surface gives $\partial_l \lambda \simeq (2 - 7\epsilon/12)\lambda$ and therefore $[\lambda] = 2 - 7\epsilon/12$, which together with Eq.s (D.2) and (D.4) gives Eq. (56).

References

- R. Blatt and C. F. Roos, *Quantum simulations with trapped ions*, Nat. Phys. 8, 277 (2012), doi:10.1038/nphys2252.
- [2] J. W. Britton, B. C. Sawyer, A. C. Keith, C.-C. J. Wang, J. K. Freericks, H. Uys, M. J. Biercuk and J. J. Bollinger, *Engineered two-dimensional Ising interactions in a trapped-ion quantum simulator with hundreds of spins*, Nature 484, 489 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature10981.
- [3] J. G. Bohnet, B. C. Sawyer, J. W. Britton, M. L. Wall, A. M. Rey, M. Foss-Feig and J. J. Bollinger, *Quantum spin dynamics and entanglement generation with hundreds of trapped ions*, Science **352**, 1297 (2016), doi:10.1126/science.aad9958.
- [4] H. Bernien et al., Probing many-body dynamics on a 51-atom quantum simulator, Nature 551, 579 (2017), doi:10.1038/nature24622.
- [5] J. Clarke and F. K. Wilhelm, *Superconducting quantum bits*, Nature **453**, 1031 (2008), doi:10.1038/nature07128.
- [6] A. A. Houck, H. E. Türeci and J. Koch, On-chip quantum simulation with superconducting circuits, Nat. Phys. 8, 292 (2012), doi:10.1038/nphys2251.
- [7] D. L. Underwood, W. E. Shanks, J. Koch and A. A. Houck, *Low-disorder microwave cavity lattices for quantum simulation with photons*, Phys. Rev. A 86, 023837 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.86.023837.

- [8] S. Schmidt and J. Koch, Circuit QED lattices: Towards quantum simulation with superconducting circuits, Ann. Phys. 525, 395 (2013), doi:10.1002/andp.201200261.
- [9] C. Noh and D. G. Angelakis, Quantum simulations and many-body physics with light, Rep. Prog. Phys. 80, 016401 (2016), doi:10.1088/0034-4885/80/1/016401.
- [10] M. Müller, S. Diehl, G. Pupillo and P. Zoller, Engineered open systems and quantum simulations with atoms and ions, in Advances in atomic, molecular, and optical physics, Academic Press, Cambridge, USA, ISBN 9780123964823 (2012), doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-396482-3.00001-6.
- [11] P. L. McMahon et al., *A fully programmable 100-spin coherent Ising machine with all-to-all connections*, Science **354**, 614 (2016), doi:10.1126/science.aah5178.
- [12] G. Lindblad, On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups, Commun. Math. Phys. 48, 119 (1976), doi:10.1007/BF01608499.
- [13] V. Gorini, A. Kossakowski and E. C. G. Sudarshan, Completely positive dynamical semigroups of N-level systems, J. Math. Phys. 17, 821 (1976), doi:10.1063/1.522979.
- [14] M. I. Dykman and M. A. Krivoglaz, Spectral distribution of nonlinear oscillators with nonlinear friction due to a medium, Phys. Status Solidi B 68, 111 (1975), doi:10.1002/pssb.2220680109.
- [15] L. M. Sieberer, M. Buchhold and S. Diehl, Keldysh field theory for driven open quantum systems, Rep. Prog. Phys. 79, 096001 (2016), doi:10.1088/0034-4885/79/9/096001.
- [16] L. M. Sieberer, M. Buchhold, J. Marino and S. Diehl, Universality in driven open quantum matter, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2312.03073.
- [17] F. Thompson and A. Kamenev, *Field theory of many-body Lindbladian dynamics*, Ann. Phys. 455, 169385 (2023), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2023.169385.
- [18] H. Hinrichsen, Non-equilibrium critical phenomena and phase transitions into absorbing states, Adv. Phys. 49, 815 (2000), doi:10.1080/00018730050198152.
- [19] D. Roscher, S. Diehl and M. Buchhold, Phenomenology of first-order dark-state phase transitions, Phys. Rev. A 98, 062117 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.98.062117.
- [20] M. Marcuzzi, M. Buchhold, S. Diehl and I. Lesanovsky, Absorbing state phase transition with competing quantum and classical fluctuations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 245701 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.245701.
- [21] M. Buchhold, B. Everest, M. Marcuzzi, I. Lesanovsky and S. Diehl, Nonequilibrium effective field theory for absorbing state phase transitions in driven open quantum spin systems, Phys. Rev. B 95, 014308 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.95.014308.
- [22] F. Carollo and I. Lesanovsky, Nonequilibrium dark space phase transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 040603 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.040603.
- [23] M. Jo, J. Lee, K. Choi and B. Kahng, Absorbing phase transition with a continuously varying exponent in a quantum contact process: A neural network approach, Phys. Rev. Res. 3, 013238 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.3.013238.
- [24] F. Carollo, E. Gillman, H. Weimer and I. Lesanovsky, Critical behavior of the quantum contact process in one dimension, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 100604 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.100604.

- [25] S. Rowlands, I. Lesanovsky and G. Perfetto, Quantum reaction-limited reactiondiffusion dynamics of noninteracting Bose gases, New J. Phys. 26, 043010 (2024), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/ad397a.
- [26] G. Perfetto, F. Carollo, J. P. Garrahan and I. Lesanovsky, *Reaction-limited quantum reaction-diffusion dynamics*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **130**, 210402 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.130.210402.
- [27] F. Gerbino, I. Lesanovsky and G. Perfetto, Large-scale universality in quantum reaction-diffusion from Keldysh field theory, Phys. Rev. B 109, L220304 (2024), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.109.L220304.
- [28] F. Gerbino, I. Lesanovsky and G. Perfetto, *Kinetics of quantum reaction-diffusion systems*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2406.20028.
- [29] F. Tonielli, J. C. Budich, A. Altland and S. Diehl, *Topological field theory far from equilib*rium, Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**, 240404 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.240404.
- [30] P. A. Nosov, D. S. Shapiro, M. Goldstein and I. S. Burmistrov, Reaction-diffusive dynamics of number-conserving dissipative quantum state preparation, Phys. Rev. B 107, 174312 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.107.174312.
- [31] A. A. Lyublinskaya, P. A. Nosov and I. S. Burmistrov, *Instability of the engineered dark* state in two-band fermions under number-conserving dissipative dynamics, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2408.04987.
- [32] F. Verstraete, M. M. Wolf and J. I. Cirac, Quantum computation and quantum-state engineering driven by dissipation, Nat. Phys. 5, 633 (2009), doi:10.1038/nphys1342.
- [33] P. M. Harrington, E. J. Mueller and K. W. Murch, *Engineered dissipation for quantum information science*, Nat. Rev. Phys. 4, 660 (2022), doi:10.1038/s42254-022-00494-8.
- [34] M. Gau, R. Egger, A. Zazunov and Y. Gefen, *Driven dissipative Majorana dark spaces*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125**, 147701 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.125.147701.
- [35] M. Gau, R. Egger, A. Zazunov and Y. Gefen, Towards dark space stabilization and manipulation in driven dissipative Majorana platforms, Phys. Rev. B 102, 134501 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.134501.
- [36] R. A. Santos, F. Iemini, A. Kamenev and Y. Gefen, A possible route towards dissipationprotected qubits using a multidimensional dark space and its symmetries, Nat. Commun. 11, 5899 (2020), doi:10.1038/s41467-020-19646-4.
- [37] B. Kraus, H. P. Büchler, S. Diehl, A. Kantian, A. Micheli and P. Zoller, Preparation of entangled states by quantum Markov processes, Phys. Rev. A 78, 042307 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.78.042307.
- [38] S. Chirame, F. J. Burnell, S. Gopalakrishnan and A. Prem, Stable symmetry-protected topological phases in systems with heralded noise, Phys. Rev. Lett. 134, 010403 (2025), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.134.010403.
- [39] S. Chirame, A. Prem, S. Gopalakrishnan and F. J. Burnell, Stabilizing non-Abelian topological order against heralded noise via local Lindbladian dynamics, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2410.21402.

- [40] P. Sierant and X. Turkeshi, Controlling entanglement at absorbing state phase transitions in random circuits, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130, 120402 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.130.120402.
- [41] N. O'Dea, A. Morningstar, S. Gopalakrishnan and V. Khemani, Entanglement and absorbing-state transitions in interactive quantum dynamics, Phys. Rev. B 109, L020304 (2024), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.109.L020304.
- [42] X. Mi et al., Information scrambling in quantum circuits, Science 374, 1479 (2021), doi:10.1126/science.abg5029.
- [43] A. Morvan et al., Phase transition in random circuit sampling, Nature 634, 328 (2024), doi:10.1038/s41586-024-07998-6.
- [44] M. Doi, Stochastic theory of diffusion-controlled reaction, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 9, 1479 (1976), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/9/9/009.
- [45] L. Peliti, Path integral approach to birth-death processes on a lattice, J. Phys. Fr. 46, 1469 (1985), doi:10.1051/jphys:019850046090146900.
- [46] U. C. Täuber, Scale invariance and dynamic phase transitions in diffusion-limited reactions, in Advances in solid state physics, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, ISBN 9783540401506 (2003), doi:10.1007/978-3-540-44838-9 47.
- [47] G. Ódor, Universality classes in nonequilibrium lattice systems, Rev. Mod. Phys. 76, 663 (2004), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.76.663.
- [48] J. Marro and R. Dickman, Nonequilibrium phase transitions in lattice models, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780511524288 (1999), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511524288.
- [49] U. C. Täuber, Critical dynamics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9781139046213 (2014), doi:10.1017/CBO9781139046213.
- [50] V. Elgart and A. Kamenev, *Classification of phase transitions in reaction-diffusion models*, Phys. Rev. E **74**, 041101 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.74.041101.
- [51] P. C. Hohenberg and B. I. Halperin, *Theory of dynamic critical phenomena*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 49, 435 (1977), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.49.435.
- [52] A. Kamenev, Field theory of non-equilibrium systems, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780521760829 (2011), doi:10.1017/CB09781139003667.
- [53] L. M. Sieberer, S. D. Huber, E. Altman and S. Diehl, Dynamical critical phenomena in driven-dissipative systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 195301 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.195301.
- [54] L. He, L. M. Sieberer, E. Altman and S. Diehl, Scaling properties of onedimensional driven-dissipative condensates, Phys. Rev. B 92, 155307 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.92.155307.
- [55] M. F. Maghrebi and A. V. Gorshkov, Nonequilibrium many-body steady states via Keldysh formalism, Phys. Rev. B 93, 014307 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.93.014307.
- [56] J. Marino and S. Diehl, Driven Markovian quantum criticality, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 070407 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.070407.

- [57] E. G. Dalla Torre, E. Demler, T. Giamarchi and E. Altman, Quantum critical states and phase transitions in the presence of non-equilibrium noise, Nat. Phys. 6, 806 (2010), doi:10.1038/nphys1754.
- [58] E. G. Dalla Torre, E. Demler, T. Giamarchi and E. Altman, Dynamics and universality in noise-driven dissipative systems, Phys. Rev. B 85, 184302 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.85.184302.
- [59] T. Prosen and T. H. Seligman, *Quantization over boson operator spaces*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 43, 392004 (2010), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/43/39/392004.
- [60] P. Kos and T. Prosen, *Time-dependent correlation functions in open quadratic fermionic systems*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 123103 (2017), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aa9681.
- [61] T. Prosen, Third quantization: A general method to solve master equations for quadratic open Fermi systems, New J. Phys. 10, 043026 (2008), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/10/4/043026.
- [62] C. Guo and D. Poletti, Solutions for bosonic and fermionic dissipative quadratic open systems, Phys. Rev. A 95, 052107 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.95.052107.
- [63] T. Prosen, Spectral theorem for the Lindblad equation for quadratic open fermionic systems, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P07020 (2010), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2010/07/P07020.
- [64] A. McDonald and A. A. Clerk, Third quantization of open quantum systems: Dissipative symmetries and connections to phase-space and Keldysh field-theory formulations, Phys. Rev. Res. 5, 033107 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.5.033107.
- [65] M. I. Dykman, E. Mori, J. Ross and P. M. Hunt, Large fluctuations and optimal paths in chemical kinetics, J. Chem. Phys. 100, 5735 (1994), doi:10.1063/1.467139.
- [66] B. Buča and T. Prosen, A note on symmetry reductions of the Lindblad equation: Transport in constrained open spin chains, New J. Phys. 14, 073007 (2012), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/14/7/073007.
- [67] V. V. Albert and L. Jiang, *Symmetries and conserved quantities in Lindblad master equations*, Phys. Rev. A **89**, 022118 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.022118.
- [68] H.-K. Janssen, F. van Wijland, O. Deloubrière and U. C. Täuber, *Pair contact process with diffusion: Failure of master equation field theory*, Phys. Rev. E 70, 056114 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.70.056114.
- [69] H. D. I. Abarbanel, J. D. Bronzan, R. L. Sugar and A. R. White, *Reggeon field theory: Formulation and use*, Phys. Rep. 21, 119 (1975), doi:10.1016/0370-1573(75)90034-4.
- [70] H. K. Janssen, On the nonequilibrium phase transition in reaction-diffusion systems with an absorbing stationary state, Z. Phys. B Condens. Matter 42, 151 (1981), doi:10.1007/BF01319549.
- [71] P. Grassberger, On phase transitions in Schlögl's second model, Z. Phys. B Condens. Matter 47, 365 (1982), doi:10.1007/BF01313803.
- [72] R. A. Fisher, The wave of advance of advantageous genes, Ann. Eugen. 7, 355 (1937), doi:10.1111/j.1469-1809.1937.tb02153.x.

- [73] A. Kolmogoroff, I. Petrovsky and N. Piscounoff, Study of the diffusion equation with growth of the quantity of matter and its application to a biology problem, in Dynamics of curved fronts, Academic Press, San Diego, USA, ISBN 9780125503556 (1988), doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-092523-3.50014-9.
- [74] L. Canet, B. Delamotte, O. Deloubrière and N. Wschebor, Nonperturbative renormalization-group study of reaction-diffusion processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 195703 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.195703.
- [75] L. Canet, *Reaction-diffusion processes and non-perturbative renormalization group*, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **39**, 7901 (2006), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/39/25/S07.
- [76] V. Elgart and A. Kamenev, Rare event statistics in reaction-diffusion systems, Phys. Rev. E 70, 041106 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.70.041106.
- [77] J. Cardy, *Scaling and renormalization in statistical physics*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780521499590 (1996).
- [78] J. Zinn-Justin, Quantum field theory and critical phenomena, Ox-ISBN 9780198509233 (2002),ford University Press, Oxford, UK, doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198509233.001.0001.
- [79] J. L. Cardy and U. C. Täuber, *Field theory of branching and annihilating random walks*, J. Stat. Phys. **90**, 1 (1998), doi:10.1023/A:1023233431588.
- [80] J. Cardy and U. C. Täuber, *Theory of branching and annihilating random walks*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 77, 4780 (1996), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.77.4780.
- [81] O. Al Hammal, J. A. Bonachela and M. A. Muñoz, Absorbing state phase transitions with a non-accessible vacuum, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P12007 (2006), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2006/12/P12007.
- [82] U. C. Täuber, M. J. Howard and H. Hinrichsen, Multicritical behavior in coupled directed percolation processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 2165 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.80.2165.
- [83] H.-K. Janssen, Directed percolation with colors and flavors, J. Stat. Phys. 103, 801 (2001), doi:10.1023/A:1010300703724.
- [84] J. Bartels, C. Contreras and G. P. Vacca, *Emergent symmetries at criticality in multi field RFT/DP*, J. High Energy Phys. **05**, 032 (2024), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2024)032.
- [85] L. M. Sieberer, A. Chiocchetta, A. Gambassi, U. C. Täuber and S. Diehl, *Thermodynamic equilibrium as a symmetry of the Schwinger-Keldysh action*, Phys. Rev. B 92, 134307 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.92.134307.
- [86] X. Huang, J. H. Farrell, A. J. Friedman, I. Zane, P. Glorioso and A. Lucas, Generalized time-reversal symmetry and effective theories for nonequilibrium matter, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2310.12233.
- [87] D. Roberts, A. Lingenfelter and A. A. Clerk, *Hidden time-reversal symmetry, quantum de-tailed balance and exact solutions of driven-dissipative quantum systems*, PRX Quantum 2, 020336 (2021), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.2.020336.
- [88] J. Guo, O. Hart, C.-F. Chen, A. J. Friedman and A. Lucas, Designing open quantum systems with known steady states: Davies generators and beyond, Quantum 9, 1612 (2025), doi:10.22331/q-2025-01-28-1612.